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about Agilysys, Inc.

Agilysys is a leading provider of enterprise computer 

technology solutions consisting of complex server and 

storage hardware, software and services.  The company 

serves a broad base of customers in a wide variety of 

industries as well as the public sector.  Agilysys designs 

and implements tailored solutions to help businesses and 

other organizations resolve their most complicated in-

formation technology (IT) needs, and supports reseller 

partners in growing their businesses.  By combining pro-

prietary software and services with the products and 

services of leading suppliers, Agilysys serves as a criti-

cal link in the IT supply chain.  The company also offers 

industry-specifi c expertise in markets such as retail and 

hospitality.  Headquartered in Boca Raton, Florida, Agi-

lysys has sales offi ces throughout North America and in 

the Asia Pacifi c region. 

Portions of this annual report, particularly the statements made by management and those that are not 
historical facts, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements are based on current 
assumptions and expectations, and are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond 
the control of Agilysys. Many factors could cause Agilysys actual results to differ materially from those 
anticipated by the forward-looking statements. For a listing of these risk factors, please see the Agilysys 
fi scal 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as fi led with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

Our
Suppliers

Key Terms

Forward-
Looking 
Statements

Our customers include both end-user customers of the Agilysys Enterprise Solutions Group (ESG), and 
reseller partners of the Agilysys KeyLink Systems Group (KSG).  Below are some key terms to note:

Enterprise Solutions Group (ESG)  The Agilysys Enterprise Solutions Group sells solutions directly 
to end-user customers across many industries to resolve their most critical and complicated IT business 
challenges by designing, packaging and implementing solutions that fi t their specifi c needs.

KeyLink Systems Group (KSG)  The Agilysys KeyLink Systems Group acts as a critical link between 
suppliers and our reseller partners, selling enterprise computer technology solutions to resellers, 
which then enhance those solutions with their own set of software and services sold directly to end-
user customers.

End-User Customer  A business customer that ultimately uses and benefi ts from technology solu-
tions. The end-user customer may purchase products and services from ESG or from one of KSG’s 
reseller partners. 

Reseller Partner  A technology reseller is authorized and certifi ed by suppliers and software 
developers to sell their products.  Resellers possess technical and consulting expertise to solve business 
problems and enhance business processes for end-user customers.
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(a)  Fiscal 2006 includes the operating results of The CTS Corporations, and the China and Hong Kong operations of Mainline Information Systems, Inc. from their respective date of acquisition. Fiscal 2006 and 2005 include 
full-year operating results of Kyrus Corporation and Inter-American Data, Inc. Fiscal 2004 includes the results of operations of Kyrus Corporation and Inter-American Data from their respective date of acquisition.

(b)  Fiscal 2006 includes a $5.3 million ($3.1 million, after tax) restructuring charge to consolidate a portion of operations to reduce costs and increase operating efficiencies. Fiscal 2005 includes a $0.5 million ($0.3 million, 
after tax) restructuring charge, primarily for lease expense related to facilities closed in previous years. Fiscal 2004 includes a $2.5 million ($1.6 million, after tax) restructuring charge for facility closures, change in 
company name, and other costs associated with a reorganization in 2003. In March 2003, the company recorded a $20.7 million ($13.0 million, after tax) charge for the impairment of facilities and other assets and 
for severance costs incurred in connection with downsizing the company’s corporate structure. 

(c)  Fiscal 2006 includes a $4.8 million ($2.8 million, after tax) loss on redemption of the company’s Convertible Trust Preferred Securities. In addition, fiscal 2004 and 2003 include a $8.6 million ($5.4 million, after tax) 
and $1.2 million ($0.7 million, after tax) charge, respectively, related to the company’s repurchase of certain 9.5% Senior Notes and the resulting premium paid and financing costs.

(d)  In 2003, the company recognized an impairment charge of $14.6 million ($9.2 million, after tax) on an available for-sale investment.

(e)  Return on Invested Capital is calculated as trailing 12 months net operating profit after tax (including restructuring charges) divided by a five point average of the last four quarter plus current quarter Total Capital.  
Total Capital is defined as long-term debt including current portion, plus convertible trust preferred securities plus shareholders’ equity minus cash and equivalents.                                                        
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to our shareholders

The end of fiscal 2006 marks the third anniversary of the Agilysys transformation that started 

in early 2003. It began with the exit of non-strategic businesses to build the company into a 

leading provider of enterprise computer technology solutions. We planned to accomplish this 

by acquiring and developing offerings that would differentiate the company in the market-

place and create a financially rewardable value proposition for our customers. In anticipation 

of the change, the company set a number of ambitious goals:

2

Grow sales faster than the 

markets in which we participate;

Grow profits faster than sales;

Increase operating profit to the

range of 3 to 3.5 percent of sales;

Drive return on capital to 10

to 12 percent; and

Reduce our debt-to-total capital 

ratio to 25 to 35 percent.

I am pleased to report the company has achieved or  

exceeded each goal and, in doing so, has created signifi-

cant value for shareholders.

Transforming Our Business Through Strategic Actions

The improved business model that is Agilysys today and 

the related improvement in financial results are a direct 

result of strategic and financial actions taken by the com-

pany over the last three years.

The strategic actions include:

• Entering the growing retail solutions market with 

the October 2003 acquisition of Kyrus Corpora-

tion. This acquisition quickly established the com-

pany as a leading, nationwide provider of retail 

industry IT solutions and services.

• Entering the hospitality solutions market with the 

February 2005 acquisition of Inter-American Data. 

This acquisition instantly positioned Agilysys as a 

leading developer and marketer of hardware, soft-

ware and services to the hotel casino and destina-

tion resort segments of the hospitality industry.  

• Enhancing our proprietary technology services 

business with the June 2005 acquisition of The CTS 

Corporations and significantly improving its poten-

tial through the execution of a supplier agreement 

with EMC Corporation, a leader in IT storage.   

As an independent services organization with a  



to our shareholders

Arthur Rhein
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

3

specialization in IT storage for large- and medium-

sized corporate- and public-sector customers, this 

acquisition provides Agilysys a team of highly skilled 

consultants to complement our previously existing 

professional services organization.

• Expanding into Asian markets, specifically China, 

through acquisition. This business specializes in enter-

prise information technology solutions for large and 

medium-sized businesses and banking institutions in 

Hong Kong, Macau and mainland China and provides 

the opportunity for Agilysys to quickly begin opera-

tions there with a nucleus of local talented people.

 Together these businesses, as fully integrated parts 

of Agilysys, have significantly increased potential. Each  

is providing access to new markets. 

Specifically, they continue to expand 

our offerings to select vertical markets, 

where we now have industry-specific 

expertise and proprietary services that 

are highly valued by customers.

Growing Revenues Faster than 

Our Markets

Over the last three years, Agilysys rev-

enues have increased 49 percent, from 

$1.17 billion in fiscal 2003 to $1.74 bil-

lion in fiscal 2006, a compounded annual 

growth rate (CAGR) of 14 percent. 

This compares with annual growth of 

approximately 6 percent for the enter-

prise system segments of the IT indus-

try in which we compete, according 

to IDC, a leading provider of technol-

ogy intelligence and market data. Our  

objective remains to continue to grow sales faster than 

these market segments.

Growing Profits Faster than Sales

Over the last three fiscal years, we have made impres-

sive improvements in increasing profitability. Excluding 

restructuring charges, operating income is up from $13.3 

million for fiscal 2003 to $61.2 million for fiscal 2006, or a 

CAGR of 66 percent.  In fiscal 2006, operating profit mar-

gin reached 3.2 percent of sales. Adjusted for a restruc-

turing charge taken early in fiscal 2006 in support of con-

solidating operations, operating income would have been  

3.5 percent of sales.

 The company continued to drive year-over-year 

improvements in top- and bottom-line performance in  

fiscal 2006. Sales increased 7 percent for the year to  



$1.74 billion, from $1.62 billion in fiscal 2005. This growth 

was driven by sales increases to both end-user customers 

and reseller partners, as well as across all major product 

categories — hardware, software and services — includ-

ing double-digit increases in software and services.  

 Gross margins remain strong and were up to  

13.1 percent of sales for the fiscal year, compared with 

12.8 percent reported a year earlier. This increase was 

attributable to a revenue mix shift toward more profit-

able software and services offerings, along with higher 

levels of supplier incentives.

 Net income for fiscal 2006 was $28.1 million,  

or $0.89 per diluted share, a 44 percent increase over 

prior-year net income of $19.5 million, or $0.67 per 

diluted share.

Increasing Returns on Invested Capital

Over the last three years, we have significantly improved 

our return on capital.  With our focus on growing oper-

ating profit and managing our working capital, return on  

invested capital increased from negative 2.1 percent in fis-

cal 2003 to 11.3 percent in fiscal 2006.  This represents 

the first time in many years that we generated returns on 

capital exceeding our cost of capital.  Prior to the trans-

formation, our returns on invested capital were typically in 

the low single digits.    

 In achieving these improvements, we have made sub-

stantial progress in working capital management. Inventory 

has remained flat at approximately $50 million, despite the 

49 percent increase in revenue for the three-year period. 

Working capital as a percentage of sales is now 3.2 percent.  

Improvements in working capital management and operat-

ing income have generated positive annual cash flow from 

operations — again, something we had not achieved for 

many years.

Significant Financial Flexibility

In addition to the strategic actions we have taken and our 

improved operational efficiency, the company has materi-

ally changed its capital structure. The combination of the 

proceeds from exiting electronic components distribution 

in 2003, and the cash generated by our continuing busi-

ness over the last three years, has allowed us to signifi-

cantly improve and increase our financial flexibility.

 Since February 2003, when the company began  

the transformation, we have retired $91 million of our  

9.5 percent Senior Notes. We will retire the remaining 

$59 million of these notes when they come due in August 

2006, at which time the company will be debt-free.

 Additionally, in June 2005, Agilysys redeemed its 

6.75 percent Convertible Trust Preferred Securities.  

Shareholders benefit through the elimination of an an-

nual distribution on these securities, which amounted 

to approximately $5.2 million per year, net of tax, and 

the elimination of 6.7 million shares, or approximately  

17 percent of dilution.  

 In October 2005, Agilysys also entered a $200 mil-

lion five-year unsecured credit facility. This new credit 
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Today, Agilysys is a growing, profitable Fortune 1000 company. We are 

a high-value provider of enterprise computer technology solutions with  

low working capital needs.



facility will be used to fund working capital, capital 

expenditures, and potential acquisitions.

 With $148 million in cash on hand, a $200 million 

credit facility, only $59 million in debt outstanding and 

the prospect of being debt-free very shortly, we have 

significant financial flexibility.  This will enable us to make 

strategic investments to grow our business.

 

Agilysys Today Is a Better Model

Today, Agilysys is a growing, profitable Fortune 1000 

company. We are a high-value provider of enterprise 

computer technology solutions with low working capi-

tal needs. We have the financial flexibility to continue 

investing in our business and to earn returns above our 

cost of capital. In other words, we are positioned to con-

tinue building value for our shareholders. 

 Agilysys is also well positioned to offer real solu-

tions to meet our customers’ business needs. We plan 

to continue enhancing our offerings through the acquisi-

tion and development of products and services that will 

further differentiate our competitive position, just as we 

have done over the last three years. Our ongoing goal is 

to improve our business model by acquiring or develop-

ing intellectual assets, in the form of products or services 

that are higher up the value scale, and for which we will 

be financially rewarded.

 In closing and as always, I thank our customers for 

their business, our suppliers for delivering products that 

enable Agilysys solutions, our employees for their dedi-

cation and hard work, and our shareholders for entrust-

ing our company with their investment dollars.

Arthur Rhein

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

June 26, 2006
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Agilysys performs two important roles as a critical link in the technology supply chain:

1.   Providing tailored solutions that it sells directly to end-user customers via the Agilysys Enterprise Solutions Group (ESG). 

2.  Serving as a distributor of hardware, software and services to reseller partners via the Agilysys KeyLink Systems 

Group (KSG) – and supporting them with services that foster their business growth. 

These solutions require strong technical support and expertise, product and service offerings, and partnerships with the 

largest and best suppliers in the IT industry. In addition, Agilysys reseller partners, who sell to customers across a broad 

range of industries, enhance Agilysys solutions with their own set of software and services.

Green -- Indicates where Agilysys operates

routes to market
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enterprise 
solutions group

Agilysys designs and implements solutions that fulfill the 

specific needs of its end-user customers.  These solutions 

consist of a combination of hardware, software and services, 

and are highly complex and specialized in nature.  Strong re-

lationships with leading technology suppliers, such as EMC, 

HP, IBM, and Oracle, enable ESG to develop and deliver the 

most effective solutions. 

 Experience in diverse industries – including education, 

finance, government, healthcare, hospitality, manufacturing, 

retail and transportation – allows Agilysys to serve end-

user customers expertly in each of those industries.  ESG is 

known for its quick, effective and timely responsiveness and 

implementation, allowing it to build a strong track record 

and long-standing relationships with a broad base of cus-

tomers.  The group’s highly trained, technical workforce has 

the knowledge and skills to evaluate, develop and implement 

solutions that are just right for each customer’s needs.

 

Serving Technology Needs in Growing Markets

ESG focuses its solutions on IT infrastructure requirements 

of medium- to large-size enterprises; the supermarket, 

chain drug and general retail segment of the retail industry;  

and the hotel casino and destination resort segments of 

the hospitality industry. In addition, Agilysys Professional 

Services enhances these solutions by providing professional 

IT consulting, implementation, integration and support  

services.

Technology Solutions  ESG delivers mission-critical comput-

ing infrastructure solutions that help end-user customers 

run their businesses more efficiently through technology.  

Areas of focus include infrastructure optimization, storage 

and resource management, business continuity, and enter-

prise architecture and availability.

Retail Solutions  As a leader in designing and implementing 

hardware, software and service solutions for the super-

market, chain drug and general retail marketplace, Agilysys 

helps make retailers more productive and their customers 

more satisfied.  ESG offers complete system solutions that 

improve operational efficiency, technology utilization, cus-

tomer satisfaction, and in-store profitability.

Hospitality Solutions  For the hotel casino and destination 

resort segments of the hospitality industry, Agilysys offers 

property, activity, material and inventory management sys-

tems to automate functions from reservations to departure, 

and everything in between.  Material and inventory manage-

ment systems improve the efficiency of the entire inventory 

and procurement process, including food and beverage ser-

vices, retail operations and general property needs.  In addi-

tion, document management solutions help customers – in 

hospitality and a broad range of other industries – reduce 

costs associated with paper document management.    

Professional Services  Agilysys offers a strong and broad-

based portfolio of services to complement and support 

the system solutions it provides. These include consulting, 

technical and integration services for customers in a variety 

of industries.  Expanding service capabilities are one of the 

keys to the company’s ongoing success as a complete solu-

tion provider.

As a solution provider, the Agilysys Enterprise Solutions Group (ESG) helps end-user customers  

(large and medium-sized companies and the public sector) across many industries resolve their 

most critical and complicated IT business challenges. 
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keylink 
systems group

In addition to distributing hardware, software and services 

from the leading technology suppliers, KSG offers partner-

focused services that promote the growth opportunities of 

its approximately 1,100 reseller partners.  It accomplishes 

this by providing the necessary technical competency and 

support, along with integration, configuration, pricing and 

supplier programs, packaging and bundling, and other con-

sulting and support services.  All of these services enhance 

reseller partners’ ability to solve information technology 

challenges, satisfy customers, improve cash flow and achieve 

strategic business objectives.

 To ensure that its products and services represent 

the best available technology, Agilysys cultivates strong 

relationships with key suppliers and is among the leading 

solution providers for each of its major supplier partners.  

Stable, long-term relationships with suppliers allow KSG’s 

professionals to offer in-depth understanding and technical 

knowledge of suppliers’ products.

Sharing a Commitment to Growth

KSG works with a diverse base of leading resellers across 

the country that share the Agilysys commitment to grow 

business by understanding and solving the IT challenges that 

end users face today. 

 These reseller partners operate in most major and 

secondary markets of North America.  Most of them spe-

cialize in either HP or IBM products, although some special-

ize in both.  They sell across a broad range of industries 

serving large businesses as well as the fast-growing small 

to medium-sized business segment, and many are enjoying 

double-digit revenue growth in the marketplace.  Reseller 

partners enhance Agilysys solutions with their own set of 

software and services.

 Aligned with its reseller partners’ objectives, KSG  

offers defined marketing programs, business development 

services, sales incentives, demonstrations, qualified sales 

leads, creative online tools, training and education.  Field-

based sales specialists help shorten the sales cycle by per-

forming joint selling activities with reseller partners.  The 

company also provides system configuration assistance, 

technology updates and implementation services.

 In addition, Agilysys offers a full range of financial ser-

vices to help resellers plan their strategies, compete more 

effectively and reduce their administrative burden.

 KSG also provides online tools that ease reseller part-

ners’ decision making and execution.  These include online 

access to product availability, order status and shipment 

tracking, marketing services and searchable catalogs, as  

well as databases of knowledge, tools and best practice 

strategies to help resellers maximize profitability and grow 

their business.

The Agilysys KeyLink Systems Group (KSG) is the critical link between Agilysys reseller 

partners and the largest and best technology suppliers in the IT industry. KSG helps serve the 

needs of its reseller partners’ customers and businesses.  KSG’s technical staff has the experi-

ence, expertise and certifications to act as consultants for reseller partners striving to achieve 

specific goals.
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part I

Item 1. Business.

Reference herein to any particular year or quarter refers to periods within the company’s fiscal year ended March 31. For example,

2006 refers to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006.

Overview

Agilysys, Inc. (the ‘‘company’’ or ‘‘Agilysys’’) is one of the foremost distributors and premier resellers of enterprise computer

technology solutions. The company sells complex servers, software, storage and services to resellers and corporate customers across

a diverse set of industries.

The company is a critical link in the information technology supply chain and is operated through two routes to market. The

Agilysys Enterprise Solutions Group (ESG) delivers tailored solutions consisting of suppliers’ products and services, combined with

proprietary software and services, directly to end-user customers. The Agilysys KeyLink Systems Group (KSG) links reseller partners

with leading suppliers of server and storage hardware, software and services and offers a wide range of programs and services to help

these reseller partners grow their businesses, compete successfully and serve their customers.

In addition to serving the overall IT market, Agilysys has industry-specific expertise in providing mission-critical solutions, including

proprietary software, to support industries such as retail and hospitality. In the retail industry the company is a leader in designing and

implementing hardware, software and service solutions for the supermarket, chain drug and general retail marketplace. In the hotel

casino and destination resort segments of the hospitality industry, we provide solutions encompassing design, implementation, training

and support for the property and activity management, material and inventory management and purchasing, and electronic document

storage, which is also integrated with a broad range of core business applications in other industries.

Headquartered in Mayfield Heights, Ohio, the company has sales offices throughout the United States, Canada and Asia. In

January 2006, the company announced plans to move its corporate headquarters to Boca Raton, Florida in fiscal 2007. Agilysys also

maintains a strategic investment in Europe.

History and Significant Events

Agilysys was organized as an Ohio corporation in 1963. While originally focused on electronic components distribution, the company

grew to become a leading distributor in both electronic components and enterprise computer systems products and solutions.

Prior to February 2003, the company was structured into two divisions, the Computer Systems Division (CSD), which focused

on the distribution and reselling of enterprise computer systems products and solutions, and the Industrial Electronics Division (IED),

which focused on the distribution of electronic components. Each division represented, on average, approximately one-half of the

company’s total revenues. On February 28, 2003, the company completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of IED

and announced its strategic transformation to focus solely on its enterprise computer solutions business and, as a result, became one

reportable business segment. The proceeds from the sale increased the company’s financial flexibility and were used to reduce debt

and fund growth of the company’s enterprise computer solutions business, both organically and through acquisition.

In September 2003, shareholders of the former Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. approved an amendment to the company’s

amended Articles of Incorporation to change the name of the company from Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. to Agilysys, Inc.

Following the approval of the name change, the company launched a new identity branding campaign, positioning the Agilysys name

with employees, customers, suppliers, shareholders and industry analysts.

In September 2003, the company acquired Kyrus Corporation, an IBM˛ Master Distributor and Premier Business Partner in retail

sales solutions. With this acquisition, Agilysys is the leading provider of IBM retail solutions and services across three major market

segments: supermarket, chain drug, and general retail. Agilysys now offers a wide range of services and solutions nationwide, including

hardware and software products and extensive professional services that ensure continuous retail operations. Professional services

include technology consulting, software customization, staging, implementation, hardware and software maintenance and 24/7 support

service capabilities. Agilysys also makes these products and services available to its existing partners and customers.

In February 2004, the company acquired substantially all of the assets of Inter-American Data, Inc. (‘‘IAD’’). As with the Kyrus

acquisition, the addition of IAD opened up a new market, broadened the company’s customer base, and increased its services and

product offerings. With this acquisition, Agilysys is the leading developer and provider of technology solutions for property and

inventory management in the casino and destination resort segments of the hospitality industry in the United States. Most of the major
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casinos and many of the largest resorts use Agilysys to design, implement and support their property management systems (‘‘PMS’’)

for the hotel front office, management accounting, customer service and housekeeping functions.

Lodging Management Systems (‘‘LMS’’) by Agilysys is the hospitality industry’s leading property management software solution.

Designed specifically to meet the unique needs of the hospitality industry, the comprehensive solution automates every aspect of hotel

operations, allowing properties to provide a higher level of service more efficiently and more cost-effectively.

Agilysys supplements its LMS offering with a Materials Management System (‘‘MMS’’) that enables the tracking and replenishment

of food, beverage and other perishable and non-perishable inventory. In addition to gaming customers, the market for the MMS

products includes restaurant chains and public arenas.

With the acquisition of IAD, the company also develops and markets proprietary document management solutions, DataMagine,

with a focus on the hospitality, health care, retail and government markets. DataMagine enables the capture, storage, control,

manipulation and distribution of scanned and electronically originated images.

In May 2005, the company acquired The CTS Corporations (‘‘CTS’’), a leading, independent services organization, specializing in

information technology storage solutions for large and medium-sized corporate customers and public-sector clients. The addition of

CTS enhances the company’s offering of comprehensive storage and enterprise infrastructure solutions.

In December 2005, the company entered the China and Hong Kong markets through the purchase of the China and Hong Kong

operations of Mainline Information Systems, Inc. The business specializes in IBM information technology enterprise solutions for large

and medium-sized businesses and banking institutions in the China market, and has sales offices in Beijing, Guangzhou, Shanghai, Hong

Kong and Macau. Agilysys expects this business to provide it an opportunity to quickly begin operations in China with a nucleus of local

talented people. Additionally, the company plans to expand the scope of products and services offered through this business.

Industry

The worldwide IT products and services industry generally consists of (1) hardware suppliers and software developers which sell

directly to distributors, solution providers, resellers and end-users, (2) distributors, which sell to solution providers and resellers and,

(3) solution providers and resellers, which sell directly to end-users.

A variety of solution provider and reseller categories exist, including value-added resellers (‘‘VARs’’), corporate resellers, systems

integrators, independent software vendors (ISVs), direct marketers and independent dealers. The large number of resellers makes it

cost-efficient for suppliers and software developers to rely on a small number of distributors to serve this diverse customer base.

Similarly, due to the large number of suppliers and products, solution providers and resellers often cannot or choose not to establish

direct purchasing relationships. As a result, many of these companies are heavily dependent on distribution partners, such as Agilysys,

that possess the necessary systems infrastructure, capital, inventory availability, and distribution and integration facilities to provide

fulfillment and other services, such as financing, logistics, marketing and technical support. These services allow solution providers and

resellers to reduce or eliminate their inventory and warehouse requirements, and reduce their staffing needs for marketing and

systems integration, thereby reducing their costs.

Enterprise computer products distribution continues to perform a vital role in delivering IT products to market in an efficient,

cost-effective manner. Manufacturers are pursuing strategies to outsource functions such as logistics, market development services,

order management and technical support to supply chain partners as they look to minimize costs and investments in pre- and post-

sales support and focus on their core competencies.

Distribution plays an important role in this outsource strategy by allowing the manufacturers to decrease fixed costs as the

distributors deliver a streamlined approach to an extended customer base through their technically skilled sales organization. The

company also believes that suppliers will continue to embrace the distribution channel for enterprise computer technology solutions in

order to maintain sales, marketing and technical expertise in key markets such as the mid-market sector through distribution and the

extended reseller network. The economies of scale and reach of large industry-leading enterprise computer solutions providers are

expected to continue to be significant competitive advantages in this marketplace.

Fiscal 2006 results were favorably impacted by increased marketing by Agilysys of its enterprise computer technology solutions,

combined with an improving U.S. capital spending environment for information technology. According to information published in

March 2005 by IDC, a leading provider of technology intelligence and market data, U.S. IT spending is projected to grow at

approximately six percent in calendar year 2006. Since Agilysys is well entrenched in the server, storage and software markets, the

company expects to benefit from this projected growth. However, a slowdown in this market could have a negative effect on the

company’s revenues and results of operations.
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Products and Services Distributed and Sources of Supply

Agilysys focuses on the distribution and reselling of three specific product areas — server and storage hardware, software and services.

The company offers mid-range enterprise servers, comprehensive storage solutions including hardware and software, and database,

Internet and systems management software. These products are packaged together as new systems or to enhance existing systems,

depending on the customer’s needs. The company also resells supplier-provided services as well as proprietary services.

Total revenues for the company’s three specific product areas are as follows:

For the year ended March 31

(In thousands) 2006 2005 2004

Hardware $1,377,695 $1,321,831 $1,134,762

Software 260,525 221,718 211,974

Services 104,240 79,376 56,480

Total $1,742,460 $1,622,925 $1,403,216

During 2006, 2005 and 2004, products purchased from the company’s two largest suppliers accounted for 86%, 88% and 88%,

respectively, of the company’s sales volume. The company’s largest supplier, IBM, supplied 71%, 72% and 72% of the company’s sales

volumes in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Sales of HP products accounted for 15%, 16% and 16% in 2006, 2005 and 2004,

respectively.

The loss of either of the top two suppliers or a combination of certain other suppliers could have a material adverse effect on the

company’s business, results of operations and financial condition unless alternative products manufactured by others are available to

the company. In addition, although the company believes that its relationships with suppliers are good, there can be no assurance that

the company’s suppliers will continue to supply products on terms acceptable to the company. Through distributor agreements with its

suppliers, Agilysys is authorized to sell all or some of the suppliers’ products. The authorization with each supplier is subject to specific

terms and conditions regarding such items as product return privileges, price protection policies, purchase discounts and supplier

incentive programs such as sales volume incentives and cooperative advertising reimbursements. A substantial portion of the

company’s profitability results from these supplier incentive programs. These cooperative supplier incentive programs and advertising

programs are at the discretion of the supplier. From time to time, suppliers may terminate the right of the company to sell some or all

of their products or change these terms and conditions or reduce or discontinue the incentives or programs offered. Any such

termination or implementation of such changes could have a material adverse impact on the company’s results of operations.

Through its acquisition of Kyrus and additional business development since the acquisition, Agilysys is a leader in designing

solutions that help make its retail industry customers more productive and improve their customers’ satisfaction. Agilysys retail

offerings help improve operational efficiency, technology utilization, a retailer’s overall shopping experience and in-store profitability

through customized relationship, pricing and inventory management systems. Agilysys also provides implementation plans and supplies

complete hardware bundles needed to operate the systems, including servers, receipt printers, point-of-sale monitors and wireless

devices for use by the retailer’s store associates.

Through its acquisition of IAD and business development since the acquisition, Agilysys develops and delivers fully integrated

solutions designed exclusively for the hotel casino and destination resort segments of the hospitality industry. The company’s property

management systems, LMSTM, automate every aspect of hotel operations, including reservations, dining, guest activities and departure,

to provide a higher level of service more efficiently and cost effectively. Agilysys also offers a material management system, MMSTM, that

automates all aspects of inventory and procurement, ranging from food and beverage and retail operations (hotel casino spas, gift

shops, etc.) to general property needs. In addition, Agilysys offers a proprietary document management software solution,

DataMagineTM.

Inventory

The company maintains levels of inventory sufficient to ensure that the lead times to its customers remain competitive. The majority of

the products sold by Agilysys are purchased pursuant to distributor agreements, which generally provide for inventory return privileges

by the company upon cancellation of a distributor agreement. The distributor agreements also typically provide protection to the

company for product obsolescence and price erosion. Along with the company’s inventory management policies and practices, these
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provisions reduce the company’s risk of loss due to slow-moving inventory, supplier price reductions, product updates or

obsolescence.

In some cases, the industry practices discussed above are not embodied in agreements and do not protect the company in all

cases from declines in inventory value. However, the company believes that these practices provide a significant level of protection

from such declines, although no assurance can be given that such practices will continue or that they will adequately protect Agilysys

against declines in inventory value. In addition, the company’s results of operations depend in part on successful management of the

challenges of rapidly changing technology.

Customers

Agilysys serves customers in most major and secondary markets of North America. The company’s customer base includes VARs,

which often are privately held with annual sales that range from approximately $10 million to $400 million, and corporate end-users,

which range from medium to large corporations, as well as the public sector. A substantial amount of the company’s business, whether

through resellers or direct to end-users, is in the mid-market customer segment. No single customer accounted for more than

10 percent of Agilysys total sales during 2006, 2005, or 2004.

Uneven Sales Patterns and Seasonality

The company experiences a disproportionately large percentage of quarterly sales in the last month of its fiscal quarters. In addition,

the company experiences a seasonal increase in sales during its fiscal third quarter ending in December. Third quarter sales were 31%,

32%, and 33% of annual revenues for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. Agilysys believes that this sales pattern is industry-wide.

Although the company is unable to predict whether this uneven sales pattern will continue over the long term, the company

anticipates that this trend will remain the same in the foreseeable future.

Backlog

The company historically has not had a significant backlog of orders. There was no significant backlog at March 31, 2006.

Competition

The distribution and reselling of enterprise computer technology solutions is competitive, primarily with respect to price, but also with

respect to service levels. The company faces competition with respect to developing and maintaining relationships with customers.

Agilysys competes for customers with other distributors, resellers and occasionally with some of its suppliers. Several of the company’s

distribution competitors are significantly larger primarily due to their international distribution presence as well as participation in other

businesses; whereas, the company’s solution provider and reseller competitors are typically smaller. Also, it is possible that certain

suppliers may decide to distribute products directly, which would further heighten competitive pressures.

Growth through Acquisitions

With its existing cash and equivalents, as well as cash expected to be generated through operations, Agilysys has the financial flexibility

to make acquisitions without immediately increasing leverage or diluting the holdings of existing shareholders. The company reviews

acquisition prospects that could accelerate the growth of the business by expanding the company’s customer base, extending the

company’s reach into new markets and/or broadening the range of solutions offered by the company. The company’s continued

growth depends in part on its ability to find suitable acquisition candidates and to consummate and integrate acquisitions. To proceed,

the prospect must have an appropriate valuation based on financial performance relative to acquisition price. However, acquisitions

always present risks and uncertainties that could have a material adverse impact on the company’s business and results of operations.

Employees

As of March 31, 2006, Agilysys had 1,483 employees. The company is not a party to any collective bargaining agreements, has had no

strikes or work stoppages and considers its employee relations to be excellent.

Markets

Agilysys sells its products principally in the United States and Canada and recently entered the China and Hong Kong markets through

acquisition. Sales to customers outside of the United States and Canada are not a significant portion of the company’s sales.
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Access to Information

Agilysys makes its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments

to these reports available free of charge through its Internet site (http://www.agilysys.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after such

material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’). The information posted on the

company’s Internet site is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the SEC maintains an Internet site

(http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file

electronically with the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The company is highly dependent on its key suppliers and supplier programs.

The company depends on a small number of key suppliers. During fiscal 2006, products purchased from IBM and HP, the company’s

two largest suppliers, accounted for 71% and 15%, respectively, of the company’s sales volume. The loss of either of these suppliers or

a combination of certain other suppliers could have a material adverse effect on the company’s business, results of operations and

financial condition. From time to time, a supplier may terminate the company’s right to sell some or all of a supplier’s products or

change the terms and conditions of the supplier relationship or reduce or discontinue the incentives or programs offered. Any such

termination or implementation of such changes could have a material negative impact on the company’s results of operations.

Risks associated with the indirect distribution of the company’s products and services may materially

adversely affect the company’s financial results.

In addition to direct sales, the company markets and sells products and services indirectly through systems integrators, resellers and

original equipment manufacturers. The company may, from time to time, derive a significant percentage of its revenues from sales

through these reseller partners. The company’s financial results could be materially adversely affected if the company’s agreements

with its reseller partners were terminated, if the company’s relationships with its reseller partners were to deteriorate or if the financial

condition of its reseller partners were to weaken. In addition, as the company’s market opportunities change, the company may have

an increased reliance on its reseller partners, which may negatively impact the company’s gross margins. There can be no assurance

that the company will be successful in maintaining or expanding the sales revenue generated by the indirect distribution of its products

and services. If the company is not successful, the company may lose sales opportunities, customers and market share. In addition,

there can be no assurance that the company’s reseller partners will not develop, market or sell products or services in competition

with the company in the future.

The market for the company’s products and services is affected by rapidly changing technology and inventory

obsolescence and if the company fails to anticipate and adapt to such changes and protect against inventory

obsolescence, the company’s results of operations may suffer.

The markets in which the company competes are characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product introductions,

evolving industry standards and changing needs of customers. The company’s future success will depend on its ability to anticipate and

adapt to changes in technology and industry standards. In addition, because the company maintains certain levels of inventory in order

to ensure that the lead times to customers remain competitive, the company is subject to the risk of inventory obsolescence. If the

company fails to successfully manage the challenges of rapidly changing technology and inventory obsolescence risks, the company’s

results of operations may suffer.

Market factors could cause a decline in spending for information technology, adversely affecting

our financial results.

Our revenue and profitability depend on the overall demand for our products and services. Delays or reductions in information

technology by end users could materially adversely affect the demand for our products and services. If the markets for our products

and services soften or continue to soften, our business, results of operations or financial condition could be materially adversely

affected.
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The company’s business could be materially adversely affected as a result of the risks associated with

acquisitions and investments.

As part of the company’s business strategy, the company seeks acquisition prospects that could accelerate the growth of its business

by expanding its customer base, extending its reach into new markets and/or broadening the range of solutions it offers. However,

acquisitions always present risks and uncertainties. These factors could have a material adverse effect on the company’s business,

results of operations or financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

The company’s principal corporate offices are located in a 60,450 square foot facility in Mayfield Heights, Ohio. The company recently

announced plans to move its corporate headquarters to Boca Raton, Florida during 2007. As of March 31, 2006, the company owned

or leased a total of approximately 744,205 square feet of space for its continuing operations, of which approximately 644,205 square

feet is devoted to product distribution and sales offices. The company’s major leases contain renewal options for periods of up to

10 years. For information concerning the company’s rental obligations, see the discussion of contractual obligations under Item 7 as

well as note 7 to the consolidated financial statements contained in Part IV hereof. The company believes that its distribution and office

facilities are well maintained, are suitable and provide adequate space for the operations of the company.

The company’s facilities of 100,000 square feet or larger, as of March 31, 2006, are set forth in the table below.

Location Type of facility Approximate square footage Leased or owned

Solon, Ohio Distribution 224,600 Leased

Solon, Ohio Office facility 102,500 Owned

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

The company is not a party to any material pending legal proceedings other than ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of the company’s security holders during the last quarter of the fiscal year ended March 31,

2006.

Item 4A. Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information provided below is furnished pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K. The following table sets forth

the name, age, current position and principal occupation and employment during the past five years through June 2, 2006 of the

company’s executive officers.

There is no relationship by blood, marriage or adoption among the listed officers. Mr. Rhein holds office until terminated as set

forth in his employment agreement. All other executive officers serve until his or her successor is elected and qualified.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Name Age Current Position Other Positions

Arthur Rhein 60 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief President and Chief Executive Officer of

Executive Officer of the company since the company from April 2002 to April

April 2003. 2003.  Prior to 2001 to March 31, 2002,

President and Chief Operating Officer.

Robert J. Bailey 49 Executive Vice President since May 2002. Prior to 2001 to May 2002, Senior Vice

President, Marketing of the company’s

Computer Systems Division.

Peter J. Coleman 51 Executive Vice President since May 2002. Prior to 2001 to May 2002, Senior Vice

President, Sales of the company’s

Computer Systems Division.

Martin F. Ellis 41 Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Executive Vice President, Corporate

Chief Financial Officer since June 2005 Development and Investor Relations from

July 2003 to June 3, 2005. Prior to July

2003, Senior Vice President, Principal, and

Head of Corporate Finance for Stern

Stewart & Co.

Kenneth J. Kossin, Jr. 41 Vice President and Controller since Assistant Controller from April 2004 to

October 2005 October 2005.  From August 2002 to April

2004, Director of General Accounting for

Roadway, Express, Inc.  Prior to August

2002, Corporate Controller for LESCO, Inc.

Richard A. Sayers II 55 Executive Vice President, Chief Prior to 2001 to May 2002, Senior

Human Resources Officer since May 2002. Vice President, Corporate Services.

Kathryn K. Vanderwist 46 Vice President, General Counsel and Prior to 2001 to April 2001, General

Assistant Secretary since April 2001. Counsel and Assistant Secretary.

Lawrence N. Schultz 58 Secretary of the company since 1999. Prior to 2001 to present, Partner of the law

firm of Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP. (1)

(1) The law firm of Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP serves as counsel to the company.
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part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer

Purchases of Equity Securities.

The company’s common shares, without par value, are traded on the NASDAQ National Market. Common share prices are quoted

daily under the symbol ‘‘AGYS.’’ The high and low market prices and dividends per share for the common shares for each quarter

during the past two years are presented in the table below.

Year ended March 31, 2006

First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Fourth quarter Year

Dividends declared per common share $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.12

Price range per common share $13.22-$19.98 $15.72-$19.34 $14.86-$19.13 $14.18-$21.20 $13.22-$21.20

Closing price on last day of period $15.70 $16.84 $18.22 $15.06 $15.06

Year ended March 31, 2005

First quarter Second quarter Third quarter Fourth quarter Year

Dividends declared per common share $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.03 $0.12

Price range per common share $11.32-$13.87 $10.75-$17.29 $15.72-$17.93 $15.94-$20.05 $10.75-$20.05

Closing price on last day of period $13.79 $17.29 $17.14 $19.66 $19.66

As of June 2, 2006, there were 30,526,505 common shares of Agilysys, Inc. outstanding, and there were 2,376 shareholders of

record. The closing price of the common shares on June 2, 2006, was $17.18.

Cash dividends on common shares are payable quarterly upon authorization by the Board of Directors. Regular payment dates

are the first day of August, November, February and May. The company expects to continue to pay comparable cash dividends on its

common shares. The company also made quarterly distributions on its 6.75% Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred

Securities (the ‘‘Securities’’) to shareholders of record on the fifteenth day preceding the distribution date. However, on June 15, 2005,

the company completed the redemption of its Securities.

In 2006, the company issued 1,264,505 common shares upon conversion of 398,324 Securities. The common shares were not

registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (the ‘‘Securities Act’’) in reliance on an exemption from registration afforded by

Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act.

The company maintains a Dividend Reinvestment Plan whereby cash dividends and additional monthly cash investments up to a

maximum of $5,000 per month may be invested in the company’s common shares at no commission cost.

On April 27, 1999, the company adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan. For further information about the Shareholder Rights Plan,

see note 14 to the consolidated financial statements contained in Part IV hereof.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following selected consolidated financial and operating data has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements

of the company and should be read in conjunction with the company’s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto, and

Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, which are included in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K.

For the year ended March 31

(In thousands, except per share data and number of employees) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Operating results

Continuing Operations (a)(b)

Net sales $1,742,460 $1,622,925 $1,403,216 $1,171,631 $1,294,322

Income (loss) before income taxes (c)(d)(e) $ 50,693 $ 41,240 $ 26,708 $ (31,484) $ 4,944

Provision for income taxes $ 21,158 $ 15,725 $ 9,684 $ (11,739) $ 1,618

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 28,635 $ 20,362 $ 11,524 $ (26,060) $ (2,911)

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ (521) $ (877) $ (2,861) $ 18,777 $ (4,136)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of

taxes (f) $  — $  — $  — $ (34,795) $  —

Net income (loss) (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)(f) $ 28,114 $ 19,485 $ 8,663 $ (42,078) $ (7,047)

Per share data

Income (loss) from continuing operations (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)

Basic $ 0.96 $ 0.72 $ 0.42 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)

Diluted $ 0.91 $ 0.69 $ 0.41 $ (0.96) $ (0.11)

Cash dividends per share $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12

Book value per share (g) $ 12.63 $ 11.54 $ 11.14 $ 10.88 $ 12.56

Price range of common shares

High $ 21.20 $ 20.05 $ 13.81 $ 15.50 $ 14.94

Low $ 13.22 $ 10.75 $ 7.31 $ 5.40 $ 7.40

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 29,935 28,101 27,744 27,292 27,040

Diluted 32,481 36,990 27,956 27,292 27,040

Financial position

Total assets $ 761,840 $ 815,158 $ 759,662 $ 773,883 $ 916,937

Long-term obligations (i) $ 99 $ 59,624 $ 59,503 $ 130,995 $ 179,000

Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred

Securities (h) $ — $ 125,317 $ 125,425 $ 143,675 $ 143,675

Shareholders’ equity $ 385,176 $ 332,451 $ 308,990 $ 298,550 $ 340,697
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For the year ended March 31

(In thousands, except per share data and number of employees) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Other comparative data

Average total number of employees (a) 1,483 1,386 1,365 1,126 1,253

Sales per employee (a) $ 1,175 $ 1,171 $ 1,028 $ 1,041 $ 1,033

Gross margin percent of sales (a) 13.1% 12.8% 12.9% 12.7% 13.2%

Operating expense percent of sales (a)(b)(c) 9.9% 10.2% 10.3% 13.4% 12.0%

Net income (loss) percent of sales (a)(b)(c)(d)(e)(f) 1.6% 1.2% 0.6% –3.6% –0.5%

(a) In 2003, the company sold its Industrial Electronics Division (‘‘IED’’) and discontinued the operations of Aprisa, Inc. Accordingly, 2002 has been

restated to reflect the results of operations of IED and Aprisa, Inc. as discontinued operations and to exclude employees that were related to these

businesses.

(b) In 2006, the company included the results of operations of both The CTS Corporations and the Hong Kong and China operations of Mainline

Information Systems, Inc. from their respective dates of acquisition. In 2004, the company included the results of operations of both Kyrus

Corporation and Inter-American Data, Inc. from their respective dates of acquisition.

(c) In 2006, the company recorded restructuring charges of $5.3 million ($3.1 million after taxes) primarily for the consolidation of a portion of its

operations as well as senior management realignment and consolidation of responsibilities. In 2005, the company recorded restructuring charges of

$0.5 million ($0.3 million after taxes) primarily for ongoing accretion for facilities closed in earlier years. In 2004, the company recorded restructuring

charges of $2.5 million ($1.6 million after taxes) for facility closures, change in company name, and other costs associated with the 2003

reorganization. In 2003, the company recorded restructuring charges of $20.7 million ($13.0 million after taxes) for the impairment of facilities and

other assets and for severance costs incurred in connection with downsizing the company’s corporate structure.

(d) In 2003, the company recognized an impairment charge of $14.6 million ($9.2 million after taxes) on an available-for-sale investment.

(e) In 2004 and 2003, the company repurchased certain of its Senior Notes, which resulted in a pre-tax charge of $8.5 million ($5.4 million after taxes)

and $1.2 million ($0.7 million after taxes), respectively, associated with the premium paid and the write-off of related financing costs.

(f) In 2002, the company adopted FASB Statement 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which requires that amortization of goodwill be replaced

with an annual test for goodwill impairment (more often if indicators of impairment exist). The adoption of Statement 142 resulted in a charge of

$34.8 million, net of taxes, which was recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

(g) Book value per share is determined by dividing shareholders’ equity by shares outstanding less subscribed-for shares and unvested restricted shares.

(h) In 2006, the company completed the redemption of its Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (‘‘Securities’’). Securities with

a carrying value of $105.4 million were redeemed for cash at a total expense of $109.0 million. In addition, Securities with a carrying value of

$19.9 million were converted into common shares of the company.

(i) In 2006, the company’s Senior Notes were reclassified from long-term obligations to a current liability, as the Senior Notes mature in August 2006. At

March 31, 2006, the principal amount of Senior Notes outstanding was $59.4 million.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes that appear elsewhere in

this document.

Overview

Agilysys, Inc. (the ‘‘company’’ or ‘‘Agilysys’’) is one of the foremost distributors and premier resellers of enterprise computer

technology solutions. The company sells complex servers, software, storage and services to resellers and corporate customers across

a diverse set of industries.

The company is a critical link in the information technology supply chain and is operated through two routes to market. The

Agilysys Enterprise Solutions Group (ESG) delivers tailored solutions consisting of suppliers’ products and services, combined with

proprietary software and services, directly to end-user customers. The Agilysys KeyLink Systems Group (KSG) links reseller partners

with leading suppliers of server and storage hardware, software and services and offers a wide range of programs and services to help

these reseller partners grow their businesses, compete successfully and serve their customers.

The 7.4% increase in sales reflects year-over-year growth in each of the company’s major product categories, hardware, software,

and services. Sales growth has been accomplished by the company’s focus on providing enterprise computer technology solutions and

entry into the growing retail and hospitality solutions markets through recent acquisitions. Additionally, the company has experienced

increases in gross margin due, in part, to higher growth in direct sales to end-user customers and a sales mix shift more towards higher
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margin software and services offerings. These performance improvements, combined with management’s successful efforts to control

operating costs, resulted in a 31.6% increase in operating income year-over-year.

The company continued to increase its financial flexibility during 2006 with the redemption of its 6.75% Convertible Trust Pre-

ferred Securities, which eliminated the associated annual distribution on the securities as well as the potential dilution of approximately

6.7 million shares. The company also entered into a $200 million five-year unsecured credit facility, which can be used to retire existing

debt, fund working capital and capital expenditures, or for general corporate purposes including acquisitions that improve our business

model.

The following discussion of the company’s results of operations and financial condition is intended to provide information that will

assist in understanding the company’s financial statements, including key changes in financial statement components and the primary

factors that accounted for those changes.

Results of Operations

2006 Compared with 2005

Net Sales and Operating Income

Year ended March 31 Increase (decrease)

(Dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 $ %

Net Sales $1,742,460 $1,622,925 $119,535 7.4%

Cost of goods sold 1,513,481 1,415,477 98,004 6.9%

Gross margin 228,979 207,448 21,531 10.4%

Gross margin percentage 13.1% 12.8%

Operating expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 167,779 164,470 3,309 2.0%

Restructuring charges 5,337 515 4,822 936.3%

Operating income $ 55,863 $ 42,463 $ 13,400 31.6%

Operating income percentage 3.2% 2.6%

Net sales.  The $119.5 million increase in net sales was attributed to higher sales volume achieved in each of the company’s

routes to market. Sales from the company’s Enterprise Solutions Group (‘‘ESG’’), which serves large and medium-sized corporations

across many industries, increased $92.0 million. Of the total ESG sales increase, incremental sales generated from the company’s two

business acquisitions in 2006 accounted for $22.5 million. Additionally, higher sales to the retail industry accounted for $28.6 million of

the increase in ESG sales. Sales from the company’s KeyLink Systems Group, which is the company’s primary connection with its

reseller partners, increased $27.5 million.

Changes in sales by major product category were as follows: hardware sales increased $55.8 million, or 4.2%, software sales

increased $38.8 million, or 17.5%, and services revenue increased $24.9 million, or 31.3%. The increase in hardware sales was the

result of higher sales volume of both storage and server technology. The increase in software sales was achieved by higher sales of

remarketed software solutions. The increase in services revenue was primarily driven by incremental sales of proprietary services

generated from the company’s acquisition of The CTS Corporations in the first quarter of 2006.

Gross Margin. The $21.5 million increase in gross margin was mainly due to the increase in net sales compared with last year and

the realization of incentive payments from suppliers. Additionally, sales generated from ESG increased as a percentage of total

company sales in 2006. ESG sales traditionally result in higher gross margin. A significant component of the company’s gross margin is

the realization and timing of incentive payments from its suppliers. Incentive programs are principally designed to reward the

attainment of certain supplier defined goals.

Operating Expenses. The company’s operating expenses consist of selling, general, and administrative (‘‘SG&A’’) expenses and

restructuring charges. The $3.3 million increase in SG&A expenses was due to higher compensation and benefits costs, outside
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services costs, and bad debt provision; offset by lower occupancy costs, non-income tax provision, and other miscellaneous operating

costs of the company. Compensation and benefits increased $3.1 million compared with 2005. However, excluding the incremental

costs resulting from the two acquisitions made in 2006, compensation and benefits costs decreased by approximately $3.0 million. The

decrease in normalized compensation and benefits costs was mainly due to cost savings realized from the company’s recent

restructuring efforts. Outside services costs increased approximately $2.3 million. This increase was primarily due to an increase in

information technology consulting costs. The company’s bad debt provision increased approximately $1.9 million. The company

records a provision for uncollectible accounts based on customer-specific information as well as the overall mix of customer

receivables outstanding. Occupancy costs decreased $1.3 million during 2006, which can also be attributed to cost savings from recent

restructuring efforts. The company’s provision for sales and franchise tax expense decreased $1.4 million during 2006, which was

based on ongoing tax audits and assessments during the current year. Other miscellaneous general and administrative costs of the

company decreased $1.3 million during 2006.

Restructuring charges increased $4.8 million during 2006, which reflects restructuring efforts executed by the company in the

current year. During the first half of 2006, the company consolidated a portion of its operations to reduce costs and increase future

operating efficiencies. As part of that restructuring effort, the company exited certain leased facilities and reduced the workforce of its

KeyLink Systems Group and professional services business. The company also executed a senior management realignment and

consolidation of responsibilities. Costs incurred for one-time termination benefits and other associated costs resulting from the

workforce reductions amounted to $2.5 million. These termination benefits are expected to be paid over the 12 months following

termination. Costs incurred for the exit of leased facilities amounted to $1.7 million and represent the present value of qualifying exit

costs, offset by an estimate for future sublease income. Facilities obligations, which will represent ongoing lease payments and common

maintenance costs, are expected to continue to 2017.

Other (Income) Expenses

Year ended March 31 Favorable (unfavorable)

(Dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 $ %

Other (income) expenses

Other income, net $(1,389) $(1,984) $ (595) –30.0%

Interest income (4,809) (3,310) 1,499 45.3%

Interest expense 6,557 6,517 (40) –0.6%

Loss (gain)on redemption of Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible

Trust Preferred Securities 4,811 — (4,811) –100.0%

Total other (income) expenses $ 5,170 $ 1,223 $(3,947)

Other income, net. The $0.6 million decline in other income, net was mainly due to lower earnings from the company’s equity

investment, which decreased $1.4 million. The decrease in equity investment income was offset by a $0.6 million gain realized upon

partial redemption of a cost investment by the investee and $0.2 million of other miscellaneous changes.

Interest income. The $1.5 million increase in interest income was due to higher investment yields earned on the company’s cash

equivalents during the current year. The average annual yield earned on cash equivalents increased 187 basis points year-over-year

from 1.85% in 2005 to 3.72% in 2006.

Loss (gain) on redemption of Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities. In connection with the company’s

redemption of its 6.75% Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (‘‘Securities’’) in the first quarter of 2006, the

company wrote off deferred financing fees of $2.7 million. The financing fees, incurred at the time of issuing the Securities, were being

amortized over a 30-year period ending on March 31, 2028, which was the maturity date of the Securities. The write off of deferred

financing fees, along with the $2.1 million premium paid for the redemption, resulted in a loss of $4.8 million.
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Income Taxes

The company recorded an income tax provision from continuing operations at an effective tax rate of 41.7% in 2006 compared with

an income tax provision at an effective rate of 38.1% in 2005. The increase in the effective tax rate is the result of an increase in the

provision for state income taxes and settlement of income tax audits, partially offset by a reduction in the valuation allowance.

In 2006, the company recognized a tax benefit (reduction in valuation allowance) for $1.5 million of state income tax net

operating loss carryforwards more likely than not to be realized, in addition to the benefit of $3.5 million recognized in 2005. The

benefit is based on management’s forecasted taxable income for the two-year period ending March 31, 2008. These net operating loss

carryforwards expire, if unused, in years 2008 through 2019.

In 2005, the company established a $2.5 million valuation allowance for the Canadian subsidiary deferred tax assets, including net

operating losses, because it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In 2006 the valuation allowance was

increased an additional $208,000 primarily for current year net operating loss.

2005 Compared with 2004

Net Sales and Operating Income

Year ended March 31 Increase (decrease)

(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 $ %

Net Sales $1,622,925 $1,403,216 $219,709 15.7%

Cost of goods sold 1,415,477 1,222,314 193,163 15.8%

Gross margin 207,448 180,902 26,546 14.7%

Gross margin percentage 12.8% 12.9%

Operating expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 164,470 142,436 22,034 15.5%

Restructuring charges 515 2,516 (2,001) –79.5%

Operating income $ 42,463 $ 35,950 $ 6,513 18.1%

Operating income percentage 2.6% 2.6%

Net sales. Of the $219.7 million increase in net sales in 2005, $79.7 million is attributable to incremental solutions offerings from

the two business acquisitions made during 2004. IAD was acquired on February 17, 2004; thus, it marginally impacted prior year

results. In addition, Kyrus only contributed six months of sales activity in 2004 as the business was acquired on September 30, 2003.

The remaining $140.0 million increase can be attributed to higher sales volume through the company’s distribution business. As

discussed below, the sale of server and storage hardware to the company’s reseller partners during 2005 reflected the strong demand

for information technology by end-user customers. Demand for the products we provide softened, however, towards the end of 2005

resulting in a 4.0% decrease in hardware sales for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 compared with the comparable period in 2004.

The increase in full year net sales for 2005 was attributed to the following changes in net sales by product category compared

with the same period in 2004: hardware sales increased $187.1 million, software sales increased $9.7 million, and services revenue

increased $22.9 million.

Despite a slight decrease in hardware sales during the fourth quarter of 2005, annual hardware sales were favorably impacted by

higher server and storage sales primarily through the company’s distribution business. The increase in software sales was mainly the

result of proprietary software revenue generated from IAD, which was acquired during the fourth quarter of 2004. Thus, 2005 was

favorably impacted by a full year of IAD revenue. The increase in services revenue can be attributed to incremental solutions offerings

from the company’s two acquisitions made in 2004.

Gross Margin. The $26.5 million increase in gross margin in 2005 is mainly attributed to incremental sales generated from the

two 2004 business acquisitions, which increased gross margin by $24.7 million in 2005. The increase in sales volume in the company’s

business, excluding the two 2004 business acquisitions, resulted in higher gross margin dollars as well; however, these gains were

negatively impacted by a reduction in gross margin percentage year-over-year. The lower levels of gross margin percentage were
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mainly due to a decrease in gross margin realized on the sale of hardware products, fundamentally the sale of IBM Intel-architecture

products.

A significant component of gross margin is the realization and timing of incentive payments from the company’s suppliers.

Incentive programs are principally designed to reward sales performance. The decrease in fourth quarter sales in 2005 compared with

2004 resulted in lower incentive payments recognized in the fourth quarter of 2005 versus 2004, which negatively impacted gross

margin in 2005.

Operating Expenses. The company experienced a $20.0 million increase in operating expenses in 2005 compared with 2004.

Operating expenses includes selling, general and administrative (‘‘SG&A’’) expenses and restructuring charges. The increase was

primarily caused by higher compensation and benefits costs, which increased $15.4 million, mainly resulting from the two 2004

business acquisitions having a full-year impact in 2005. The higher compensation and benefits also reflect a $3.0 million increase in the

company’s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan expense during 2005 as well as a $1.5 million expense to accrue for a long-term

incentive plan. Additionally, the company incurred $2.8 million in amortization of intangible assets during 2005 compared with zero in

2004. The intangible assets were recognized in 2005 as the purchase accounting adjustments were finalized for the two business

acquisitions made in 2004. Further, professional fees were $2.6 million higher in 2005 as a result of acquisition exploration activities

and Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 professional services. Other activity in operating costs resulted in an overall decrease of $0.8 million

during 2005 compared with 2004.

Other (Income) Expenses

Year ended March 31 Favorable (unfavorable)

(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 $ %

Other (income) expenses

Other income, net $(1,984) $ (6,687) $ (4,703) –70.3%

Interest income (3,310) (2,250) 1,060 47.1%

Interest expense 6,517 10,318 3,801 36.8%

Loss (gain) on redemption of Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust

Preferred Securities — (734) (734) –100.0%

Loss on retirement of Senior Notes — 8,595 8,595 100.0%

Total other (income) expenses $ 1,223 $ 9,242 $ 8,019 86.8%

Other income, net. The 70.3% decrease in other income, net is explained by a favorable litigation settlement of $5.0 million

received in 2004.

Interest income. The 47.1% increase in interest income reflects higher yields earned on the company’s short term investments

due to a rising interest rate environment experienced during the 2005. The 36.8% decrease in interest expense is attributable to lower

average debt levels in 2005 compared to prior year, as the interest rates applicable to the company’s long-term debt are fixed. The

company’s average long-term debt was $59.6 million in 2005 versus $95.2 million in 2004.

Loss (gain) on redemption of Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities. The 2004 gain resulted from the

company’s repurchase of approximately $17.0 million of Convertible Trust Preferred Securities. No such repurchases occurred during

2005.

Loss on retirement of Senior Notes. The loss on retirement of Senior Notes in 2004 relates to the premiums paid, as well as the

write-off of other deferred financing fees associated with the company’s repurchase of approximately $71.6 million of its Senior Notes.

No such repurchases occurred during 2005.

Income Taxes

The company recorded an income tax provision from continuing operations at an effective tax rate of 38.1% in 2005 compared with

an income tax provision at an effective rate of 36.3% in 2004. The change in rate from 2005 to 2004 was the net sum of the increase

in the valuation allowance for Canadian deferred tax assets, the increase in state income tax expense, the decrease in the valuation

allowance for state net operating loss carryforwards, and the favorable settlement of state income tax audits in 2004.
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In 2005, the company recognized a tax benefit of $3.5 million for state income tax net operating loss carryforwards more likely

than not to be realized. The benefit is based on management’s forecasted taxable income for the three-year period ending March 31,

2008, significantly discounted to reflect the uncertainty of projecting future events. These net operating loss carryforwards expire, if

unused, in years 2008 through 2019.

In 2005, the company established a $2.5 million valuation allowance for the Canadian subsidiary deferred tax assets, including net

operating losses, because it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

In 2005, the company established a $45,000 valuation allowance for Federal net operating loss carryforwards of a non-

consolidated affiliated subsidiary. The valuation allowance was established because it is more likely than not that the net operating loss

carryforwards will not be utilized.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future

effect on the company’s financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital

expenditures or capital resources.

Contractual Obligations

The following table provides aggregated information regarding the company’s contractual obligations as of March 31, 2006. These

obligations are discussed in detail in the preceding paragraphs and notes 7, 8, and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Payments due by fiscal year

Less than 1 to 3 3 to 5 More than

Contractual obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years

Senior Notes $ 59,388 $59,388 $  — $  — $  —

Fixed interest payments on notes 2,821 2,821 — — —

Capital leases 312 200 112 — —

Operating leases (1) 38,086 6,630 10,426 7,682 13,348

Total contractual obligations $100,607 $69,039 $10,538 $7,682 $13,348

(1) Lease obligations are presented net of contractually binding sub-lease arrangements.

The company anticipates that cash on hand, funds from continuing operations, the revolving credit agreement, and access to

capital markets will provide adequate funds to finance acquisitions, capital spending and working capital needs and to service its

obligations and other commitments arising during the foreseeable future.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

The company’s operating cash requirements consists primarily of working capital requirements, scheduled payments of principal and

interest on indebtedness outstanding and capital expenditures. The company believes that cash flow from operating activities, cash on

hand, available borrowings under its credit facility, and access to capital markets will provide adequate funds to meet its short and long-

term liquidity requirements.

As of March 31, 2006, the company’s total debt was $59.7 million and consisted of Senior Notes and capital lease obligations. As

of March 31, 2005, the company’s total debt was $185.2 million, and consisted of Senior Notes, capital lease obligations and

Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (‘‘Securities’’). The significant decrease in total debt from March 31,

2005 to March 31, 2006 is due to the redemption of the company’s Securities in June 2005.

Revolving Credit Facility

On October 18, 2005, the company entered into a $200 million five-year unsecured credit facility (‘‘Facility’’). The Facility includes a

$20 million sub-facility for letters of credit and a $20 million sub-facility for swingline loans. The Facility is available to refinance existing

debt, provide for working capital requirements, capital expenditures and general corporate purposes of the company including
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acquisitions. Borrowings under the Facility will generally bear interest at various levels over LIBOR. There were no amounts

outstanding under the Facility at March 31, 2006.

In connection with entry into the Facility, the company terminated its prior unsecured credit facility. As a result of the termination,

the company wrote off deferred financing fees of $0.1 million in 2006. The financing fees, incurred at the time of entering into the prior

facility, were being amortized over the life of the prior facility. No amounts had been borrowed under the prior facility during the

current year prior to its termination or at March 31, 2005.

Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities

On June 15, 2005, the company completed the redemption of its Securities. The carrying value of the Securities as of March 31, 2005

was $125.3 million. Securities with a carrying value of $105.4 million were redeemed for cash at a total expense of $109.0 million,

which includes accrued interest of $1.5 million and a premium of $2.1 million. The company funded the redemption with existing cash.

In addition, 398,324 Securities with a carrying value of $19.9 million were converted into common shares of the company. The

Securities were converted at the conversion rate of 3.1746 common shares for each share of the Securities converted resulting in the

issuance of 1,264,505 common shares of the company. As a result of the redemption, the company wrote off deferred financing fees of

$2.7 million. The financing fees incurred at the time of issuing the Securities were being amortized over a 30-year period ending

March 31, 2028.

Prior to redemption the Securities were non-voting (except in limited circumstances) and paid quarterly distributions at an annual

rate of 6.75%. The Securities were convertible into common shares at the rate of 3.1746 common shares for each Security (equivalent

to a conversion price of $15.75 per common share).

Senior Notes

The principal amount of Senior Notes outstanding at March 31, 2006 and 2005 was $59.4 million. The Senior Notes are due August

2006. Accordingly, the Senior Notes have been classified as a current liability at March 31, 2006. The Senior Notes pay interest semi-

annually on February 1 and August 1 at an annual rate of 9.5%. Interest accrued on the Senior Notes as of March 31, 2006 and

March 31, 2005 was approximately $0.9 million.

The indenture under which the Senior Notes were issued limits the creation of liens, sale and leaseback transactions, consolida-

tions, mergers and transfers of all or substantially all of the company’s assets, and indebtedness of the company’s restricted subsidiaries.

The Senior Notes are subject to mandatory repurchase by the company at the option of the holders in the event of a change in

control of the company.

Cash Flow

Year ended March 31 Increase (decrease)

(Dollars in thousands) 2006 2005 $

Net Cash provided by (used for) continuing operations:

Operating activities $ 49,950 $91,078 $ (41,128)

Investing activities (37,208) (1,846) (35,362)

Financing activities (105,988) 302 (106,290)

Effect of foreign currency fluctuations on cash 367 810 (443)

Cash flows (used for) provided by continuing operations (92,879) 90,344 (183,223)

Net cash (used for) provided by discontinued operations (1,151) 1,633 (2,784)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (94,030) $91,977 $(186,007)

Cash flow provided by (used for) operating activities. The $41.1 decrease in cash provided by operating activities was principally

due to the change in working capital requirements. Specifically, customer payment patterns normalized in 2006; whereas, the company

experienced higher collection results in 2005. Additionally, the company experienced a relatively consistent accounts payable balance
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from 2005 to 2006; whereas, accounts payable increased approximately $20.7 million in 2005. The decline in use of cash for accounts

payable settlement during 2005 resulted in an increase in cash provided by operations.

Cash flow used for investing activities. The $35.4 million increase in cash used for investing activities was mainly due to the two

acquisitions made in 2006, which were funded by cash. The CTS Corporations was acquired for $27.8 million and the China and Hong

Kong operations of Mainline Information Systems, Inc. were acquired for $0.2 million, which is net of $0.6 million cash acquired in the

transaction. In addition, the company acquired $6.8 million of marketable securities during 2006 to satisfy future obligations of its

employee benefit plans. The securities are currently held in a Rabbi Trust.

Cash flow provided by (used for) financing activities. The $106.3 million increase in cash used for financing activities was mainly due

to the company’s redemption of its Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities during the first quarter of 2006.

Securities with a carrying value of $105.4 million were redeemed at a premium of 2.025%, for a total use of cash of $107.5 million. The

company funded the redemption with cash on hand. The remaining Securities, which had a carrying value of $19.9 million, were

converted into common shares of the company.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates & Assumptions

The company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon the company’s consolidated

financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of

these financial statements requires the company to make significant estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of

assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, the company

evaluates its estimates, including those related to bad debts, inventories, investments, intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring and

contingencies, litigation and supplier incentives. The company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments

about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The company’s most significant accounting policies relate to the sale, purchase, distribution and promotion of its products. The

policies discussed below are considered by management to be critical to an understanding of the company’s consolidated financial

statements because their application places the most significant demands on management’s judgment, with financial reporting results

relying on estimation about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. No material adjustments to the company’s accounting

policies were made in 2006. Specific risks for these critical accounting policies are described in the following paragraphs.

For all of these policies, management cautions that future events rarely develop exactly as forecast, and the best estimates

routinely require adjustment.

Revenue recognition. The company derives revenue from three primary sources: server and storage hardware, software, and

services. Revenue is recorded in the period in which the goods are delivered or services are rendered and when the following criteria

are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the sales price to the

customer is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. The company reduces revenue for discounts, sales incentives,

estimated customer returns and other allowances. Discounts are offered based on the volume of products and services purchased by

customers. Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recognized as revenue and the related costs are recognized in cost of

goods sold.

Regarding hardware sales, revenue is generally recognized when the product is shipped to the customer and when there are not

unfulfilled obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance of the arrangement. A portion of the company’s hardware sales

involves shipment directly from its suppliers to the end-user customers. In such transactions, the company is responsible for negotiating

price both with the supplier and the customer, payment to the supplier, establishing payment terms with the customer, product

returns, and bears credit risk if the customer does not pay for the goods. As the principal with the customer, the company recognizes

revenue and cost of goods sold when it is notified by the supplier that the product has been shipped. In certain limited instances, as

shipping terms dictate, revenue is recognized at the point of destination.

Regarding software sales, the company offers proprietary software as well as remarketed software to its customers. Generally,

software sales do not require significant production, modification, or customization at the time of shipment (physically or electronically)

to the customer. As such, revenue from both proprietary and remarketed software sales is generally recognized when the software

has been shipped. For software delivered electronically, delivery is considered to have occurred when the customer either takes

possession of the software via downloading or has been provided with the requisite codes that allow for immediate access to the

software.

Regarding sales of services, the company offers proprietary and third-party services to its customers. Proprietary services

generally are as follows: consulting, installation, integration, and maintenance. Revenue relating to consulting, installation, and integration
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services is recognized when the service is performed. Revenue relating to maintenance services is recognized evenly over the coverage

period of the underlying agreement. In addition to proprietary services, the company offers third-party service contracts to its

customers. In such instances, the supplier is the primary obligor in the transaction and the company bears credit risk in the event of

nonpayment by the customer. Since the company is acting as an agent or broker with respect to such sales transactions, the company

reports revenue in the amount of the ‘‘commission’’ (equal to the selling price less the cost of sale) received rather than reporting

revenue in the full amount of the selling price with separate reporting of the cost of sale.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the

inability of its customers to make required payments. These allowances are based on both recent trends of certain customers

estimated to be a greater credit risk as well as historical trends of the entire customer pool. If the financial condition of the company’s

customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. To

mitigate this credit risk the company performs frequent credit evaluations of its customers.

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, net of related reserves. The cost of inventory is computed

using a weighted-average method. The company’s inventory is monitored to ensure appropriate valuation. Adjustments of inventories

to lower of cost or market, if necessary, are based upon contractual provisions governing price protection, stock rotation (right of

return status), and technological obsolescence, as well as turnover and assumptions about future demand and market conditions. If

assumptions about future demand change and/or actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management,

additional adjustments to inventory valuations may be required. The company provides a reserve for obsolescence, which is calculated

based on several factors including an analysis of historical sales of products, the age of the inventory and return provisions provided by

the distribution agreements. Actual amounts could be different from those estimated.

Deferred Taxes. The carrying value of the company’s deferred tax assets is dependent upon the company’s ability to generate

sufficient future taxable income in certain tax jurisdictions. Should the company determine that it is not able to realize all or part of its

deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets is expensed in the period such determination is made. The

company presently records a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be

realized. While the company has considered future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in

assessing the need for the valuation allowance, in the event that the company were to determine that it would be able to realize its

deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded amount (including valuation allowance), an adjustment to the deferred

tax asset would decrease tax expense in the period such determination was made.

Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets. In assessing the recoverability of the company’s goodwill and other long-lived assets, significant

assumptions regarding the estimated future cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the respective assets must be

made, as well as the related estimated useful lives. The fair value of goodwill is estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation model.

If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future as a result of changes in strategy or market conditions, the

company may be required to record impairment charges for these assets in the period such determination was made. For further

information concerning the company’s calculation of impairment, see Notes 1 and 5 in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Restructuring and Other Special Charges. The company recorded a reserve in connection with reorganizing its ongoing business.

The reserve principally includes estimates related to employee separation costs, the consolidation and impairment of facilities deemed

inconsistent with continuing operations. Actual amounts could be different from those estimated. Determination of the impairment of

assets is discussed above in Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets. Facilities reserves are calculated using a probability-weighted present value

of future minimum lease payments, offset by an estimate for future sublease income provided by external brokers. Present value is

calculated using a credit — adjusted risk-free rate with a maturity equivalent to the lease term.

Valuation of Accounts Payable. The company’s accounts payable has been reduced by amounts claimed to vendors for returns,

price protection and other amounts related to incentive programs. Amounts related to price protection and other incentive programs

are recorded as adjustments to cost of goods sold or operating expenses, depending on the nature of the program. There is a time

delay between the submission of a claim by the company and confirmation of agreement by our vendors. Historically, the company’s

estimated claims have approximated amounts agreed to by vendors.

Supplier Programs. The company receives funds from suppliers for price protection, product sales incentives and marketing and

training programs, which are generally recorded, net of direct costs, as adjustments to cost of goods sold or operating expenses

according to the nature of the program. The product sales incentives are generally based on a particular quarter’s sales activity and are

primarily formula-based. Some of these programs may extend over one or more quarterly reporting periods. The company accrues

supplier sales incentives and other supplier incentives as earned based on sales of qualifying products or as services are provided in

accordance with the terms of the related program. Actual supplier sales incentives may vary based on volume or other sales
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achievement levels, which could result in an increase or reduction in the estimated amounts previously accrued, and can, at times,

result in significant earnings fluctuations on a quarterly basis.

Recently Issued Accounting Standard

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (‘‘State-

ment’’) 123 (revised 2004), Share Based Payment, which is a revision of Statement 123. Statement 123(R) requires all share-based

payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in operating results based on their fair values.

Statement 123(R) will be effective for the company on April 1, 2006, the beginning of the company’s fiscal 2007.

Statement 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods: (1) a ‘‘modified prospective’’

method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the requirements of Statement

123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of Statement 123 for all

awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of Statement 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date, or (2) a

‘‘modified retrospective’’ method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method described above, but also

permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized under Statement 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures

either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption. The company plans to use the modified

prospective method to adopt the provisions of Statement 123(R).

As permitted by Statement 123, the company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB Opinion

No. 25’s intrinsic value method and, as such, recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption

of Statement 123(R)’s fair value method will have an impact on the company’s operating results. The impact of adoption of Statement

123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future. However, had

the company adopted Statement 123(R) in prior periods, the company believes the impact would have approximated the impact of

Statement 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share in Note 1. Statement 123(R) also

requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as financing cash flow, rather than as

an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net

financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While the company cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because

they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior

periods for such excess tax deductions has not been significant.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, which replaces APB Opinion No. 20,

Accounting Changes, and Statement 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements, and provides guidance on the

accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. Statement 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting

principle and requires retrospective application (a term defined by the statement) to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is

impracticable to determine the effect of a change. It also applies to changes required by an accounting pronouncement that does not

include specific transition provisions. In addition, Statement 154 redefines restatement as the revising of previously issued financial

statements to reflect the correction of an error. The statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The company will adopt Statement 154 beginning April 1, 2006.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement 151, Inventory Costs — An amendment of ARB No. 43. Statement 151 clarifies that

abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage should be expensed as incurred and not included in

overhead. Further, Statement 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to conversion costs should be based on

normal capacity of the production facilities. Statement 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after

June 15, 2005. Companies must apply the standard prospectively. The adoption of Statement 151 is not expected to have a material

impact on the company’s results of operations or financial position.

Business Combinations

Mainline China and Hong Kong

On December 8, 2005, the company acquired the China and Hong Kong operations of Mainline Information Systems, Inc. Accordingly,

the results of operations for the China and Hong Kong operations have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements from that date forward. The business specializes in IBM information technology enterprise solutions for large and medium-

sized businesses and banking institutions in the China market, and has sales offices in Beijing, Guangzhou, Shanghai and Hong Kong. The

business provides the company the opportunity to begin operations in China with a nucleus of local workforce. The acquisition price

for the China and Hong Kong operations was $0.8 million, which included $0.3 million of direct acquisition costs. Based on
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management’s preliminary allocation of the acquisition cost to the net assets acquired, approximately $0.8 million was assigned to

goodwill in the current year.

The CTS Corporations

On May 31, 2005, the company acquired The CTS Corporations (‘‘CTS’’), a leading independent services organization, specializing in

information technology storage solutions for large and medium-sized corporate customers and public-sector clients. Accordingly, the

results of operations for CTS have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements from that date forward. The

addition of CTS enhances the company’s offering of comprehensive storage solutions. The acquisition price was $27.8 million, which

included repayment of $2.6 million of CTS debt and $0.2 million of direct acquisition expenses. Additionally, the company would be

obligated to pay an earn-out to former CTS shareholders if the acquired business achieves specific financial performance targets. As of

March 31, 2006, it is not likely that the financial performance targets will be met by the end of the earn-out period.

Based on management’s initial allocation of the acquisition cost to the net assets acquired, approximately $24.1 million was

assigned to goodwill in the first quarter of 2006. During the second quarter, the company adjusted the estimated fair value of acquired

tax assets and liabilities by approximately $0.5 million, with a corresponding decrease to goodwill. During the third quarter, specifically

identifiable intangible assets were assigned a fair value of $9.8 million with a corresponding reduction to goodwill. The resulting

deferred tax adjustment was $3.8 million with a corresponding offset to goodwill. Of the intangible assets acquired, $9.4 million was

assigned to customer relationships, which is being amortized over ten years using an accelerated method and $0.4 million was assigned

to non-compete agreements, which are being amortized over four years using the straight-line method. Goodwill resulting from the

CTS acquisition will not be deductible for income tax purposes.

Discontinued Operations

During 2003, the company announced its strategic transformation to focus solely on its enterprise computer systems business. The

transformation included the sale of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of the company’s Industrial Electronics Division (‘‘IED’’),

which distributed semiconductors, interconnect, passive and electromechanical components, power supplies and embedded computer

products in North America and Germany. The assets sold consisted primarily of accounts receivable and inventories and the

company’s shares of common stock in World Peace Industrial Co., Ltd., an Asian distributor of electronic components. The buyer also

assumed certain liabilities. In connection with the sale of IED, the company discontinued the operations of Aprisa, Inc. (‘‘Aprisa’’), which

was an internet-based start up corporation that created customized software for the electronic components market. The disposition

of IED and discontinuance of Aprisa represented a disposal of a component of an entity. The company continues to incur certain costs

related to IED and Aprisa, which are reported as loss from discontinued operations. Such costs primarily relate to retained leases.

Restructuring Charges

Continuing Operations. During 2006, the company consolidated a portion of its operations to reduce costs and increase operating

efficiencies. As part of that restructuring effort, the company shut down certain leased facilities and reduced the workforce of its

KeyLink Systems Group and professional services business. The company also executed a senior management realignment and

consolidation of responsibilities. Costs incurred in connection with the restructuring comprise one-time termination benefits and other

associated costs resulting from workforce reductions as well as facilities costs relating to the exit of certain leased facilities. For 2006,

costs incurred for one-time termination benefits and other associated costs resulting from workforce reductions amounted to

$2.5 million and facilities costs resulting from the exit of leased facilities amounted to $1.7 million. The charges were classified as

restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations. Facilities costs represent the present value of qualifying exit costs,

offset by an estimate for future sublease income.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, concurrent with the sale of IED, the company announced it would restructure its remaining

enterprise computer solutions business and facilities to reduce overhead and eliminate assets that were inconsistent with the

company’s strategic plan and were no longer required. In connection with this reorganization, the company recorded restructuring

charges totaling $20.7 million for the impairment of facilities and other assets no longer required as well as severance, incentives, and

other employee benefit costs for personnel whose employment was involuntarily terminated. The charges were classified as

restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations. Severance, incentives, and other employee benefit costs were paid

to approximately 110 personnel. Facilities costs represent the present value of qualifying exit costs, offset by an estimate for future

sublease income for a vacant warehouse that represents excess capacity as a result of the sale of IED.
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Approximately $0.1 million is expected to be paid in 2007 for severance and other employment costs and $1.2 million is

expected to be paid in 2007 for facilities obligations. Severance and other employee costs are expected to continue to 2007 and

facilities obligations are expected to continue to 2017.

Discontinued operations. In connection with the sale of IED in 2003, the company recognized a restructuring charge of

$28.7 million. Of the total charge, $5.9 million related to severance and other employee benefit costs to be paid to approximately 525

employees previously employed by IED and not hired by the acquiring company; $5.0 million related to facilities costs for approxi-

mately 30 vacated locations no longer required as a result of the sale that were determined as the present value of qualifying exit costs

offset by an estimate of future sublease income; and $17.4 million related to the write down of assets to fair value that were

abandoned or classified as ‘‘held for sale,’’ as a result of the disposition and discontinuance of IED and Aprisa, respectively. During 2006,

the restructuring reserve was reduced by ongoing payments of facilities obligations. Approximately $0.6 million is expected to be paid

in 2007 for facilities obligations, representing the accretion of lease obligations and the absence of sub-lease income that was assumed

when the restructuring charge was initially recorded. Facilities obligations are anticipated to continue until 2010.

Investments

The company invests in marketable securities to satisfy future obligations of its employee benefit plans. The marketable securities are

held in a Rabbi Trust. The Company’s investments in marketable equity securities are held for an indefinite period and thus are

classified as available for sale. Unrealized holding gains on such securities, which were added to shareholders’ equity during 2006, were

$13,000. The securities are recorded at fair value in other non-current assets on the balance sheet, with the change in fair value during

the period excluded from earnings and recorded net of tax as a component of other comprehensive income. The aggregate fair value

of the securities at March 31, 2006 was $6.8 million. The aggregate unrealized holding gain for the securities at March 31, 2006 was

$13,000.

During 2006, a portion of the company’s investment in an affiliated company was redeemed by the affiliated company for

$2.2 million, of which $1.4 million was a non-cash exchange and $0.8 million was received in cash. The investment, which is accounted

for using the cost method, had a carrying value of $1.6 million, resulting in a $0.6 million gain on redemption of investment in affiliated

company.

During 2004, the company sold its investment in Eurodis Electron PLC (‘‘Eurodis’’), a publicly traded European enterprise

computer systems distributor. The realized gain was determined on the basis of specific identification of securities sold since the

company liquidated its entire securities holding. Sales proceeds and realized gain on the sale were $3.3 million and $0.9 million,

respectively.

Risk Control and Effects of Foreign Currency and Inflation

The company extends credit based on customers’ financial condition and, generally, collateral is not required. Credit losses are

provided for in the consolidated financial statements when collections are in doubt.

The company sells internationally and enters into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result, the company is

subject to the variability that arises from exchange rate movements. The effects of foreign currency on operating results did not have a

material impact on the company’s results of operations for the 2006, 2005 or 2004 fiscal years.

The company believes that inflation has had a nominal effect on its results of operations in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 and does

not expect inflation to be a significant factor in fiscal 2007.

Forward Looking Information

Portions of this report contain current management expectations, which may constitute forward-looking information. When used in

this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere throughout this Annual

Report on Form 10-K, the words ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘anticipates,’’ ‘‘plans,’’ ‘‘expects’’ and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-

looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements reflect management’s current

opinions and are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those stated or

implied.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof.

The company undertakes no obligation to publicly revise these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that

arise after the date hereof. Risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: competition, dependence on the IT market, softening

in the computer network and platform market, rapidly changing technology and inventory obsolescence, dependence on key suppliers
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and supplier programs, risks and uncertainties involving acquisitions, instability in world financial markets, downward pressure on gross

margins, the ability to meet financing obligations based on the impact of previously described factors and uneven patterns of quarterly

sales.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The company has assets, liabilities and cash flows in foreign currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, creating foreign exchange risk.

Systems are in place for continuous measurement and evaluation of foreign exchange exposures so that timely action can be taken

when considered desirable. Reducing exposure to foreign currency fluctuations is an integral part of the company’s risk management

program. Financial instruments in the form of forward exchange contracts are employed, when deemed necessary, as one of the

methods to reduce such risk. There were no foreign currency exchange contracts held by the company at March 31, 2006 or 2005.

The company is currently exposed to interest rate risk from the floating-rate pricing mechanisms on its revolving credit facility;

however, at March 31, 2006 or 2005, there were no borrowings outstanding.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The information required by this item is set forth beginning at page 30 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9. Change in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The company’s management, with the participation of the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated

the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. The

company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed

in the company’s Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by the

Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management,

including the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required

disclosure. The company’s disclosure controls and procedures include components of the company’s internal control over financial

reporting.

In Item 9A of the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2005, as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission, management reported that two material weaknesses related to the company’s vendor debits process and

financial statement close process existed in the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005. Those

material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting also impacted the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls

and procedures, resulting in management’s conclusion that the company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of

March 31, 2005.

As disclosed in Item 4 of the company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2005, in fiscal 2006 the following

control improvements were implemented in an effort to remediate the control deficiencies that contributed to the material weakness

related to the financial statement close process:

— Implemented a more extensive analysis and enhanced the reconciliation and review process relating to vendor rebates, an

unconsolidated entity accounted for using the equity method, liabilities for employee incentives, liabilities for long-term incentive

compensation, and the accrual of the obligation for the supplemental executive retirement plan (‘‘SERP’’).

— Enhanced prevent and detect controls, including the assessment of revenue cut-off at period end, to help ensure appropriate

revenue recognition.

— Implemented a cross-functional management group designed to identify and discuss new, or changes to existing compensation and

benefit plans (including the SERP) to help ensure the appropriate accounting and reporting requirements are met.
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— Implemented a more extensive analysis and enhanced the review process relating to the valuation of service parts inventory and

amounts due to vendors within the retail hardware services business.

As a result of these control improvements and other measures the company has taken to date, management believes the control

deficiencies that, when aggregated, constituted a material weakness in internal control over the financial statement close process as of

March 31, 2005 have been remediated.

During 2006, the following control improvements were implemented in an effort to remediate the control deficiencies that

contributed to the material weakness related to the vendor debits process:

— Enhanced the reconciliation and review process relating to vendor debits and the reserve for collectibility of vendor debits.

— Enhanced and formalized the process of estimating the reserve for collectibility of vendor debits.

— Implemented process improvements designed to improve the initiation and recording of vendor debits.

— Implemented detect controls to review the completeness and accuracy of vendor debits once recorded.

— Implemented other management review procedures to minimize the risk that the company’s vendor debits are materially misstated

at the end of a period.

As a result of these control improvements and other measures the company has taken to date, management believes the control

deficiencies identified over the vendor debit process that, when combined, constituted a material weakness in internal control over the

vendor debit process as of March 31, 2005 have been remediated.

In addition to the control improvements identified above, management performed additional analysis and other procedures to

ensure the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Accordingly, management believes that the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report present fairly in all material

respects the company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.

Based upon, and as of the date of, this evaluation, the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded

that the company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective for the purpose of ensuring that material information required

to be in this annual report was made known to them by others on a timely basis.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Agilysys, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as

such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of

March 31, 2006 based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that it maintained

effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2006.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2006 has been

audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included elsewhere

herein.

Changes in Internal Control

Other than the control improvements discussed above, there have been no changes in the company’s internal control over financial

reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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part III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

Information required by this Item as to the Directors of the company appearing under the caption ‘‘Election of Directors’’ in the

company’s Proxy Statement to be used in connection with the company’s 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on July 28,

2006 (the ‘‘2006 Proxy Statement’’) is incorporated herein by reference. Information with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 by the company’s Directors, executive officers, and holders of more than five percent of the

company’s equity securities will be set forth in the 2006 Proxy Statement under the heading ‘‘Section 16 (a) Beneficial Ownership

Reporting Compliance.’’ Information required by this Item as to the executive officers of the company is included as Item 4A in Part I

of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as permitted by Instruction 3 to Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K.

The company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Controller

known as the ‘‘Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers’’ as well as a code of business conduct that applies to all employees of the

company known as the ‘‘Code of Business Conduct.’’ Each of these documents is available on the company’s website at

http://www.agilysys.com.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is set forth in the company’s 2006 Proxy Statement under the heading, ‘‘Election of Directors,’’

under the sub-heading ‘‘Information Regarding Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors and Compensation of Directors,’’

and under the heading ‘‘Compensation of Executive Officers’’ under the sub-headings ‘‘Summary Compensation Table,’’ ‘‘Option

Grants in Last Fiscal Year,’’ ‘‘Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values,’’ ‘‘Supplemental Executive

Retirement Plan,’’ and ‘‘Employment Agreements,’’ which information is incorporated herein by reference. The information set forth in

the 2006 Proxy Statement under the subheadings, ‘‘Shareholder Return Performance Presentation,’’ ‘‘Compensation Committee

Report on Executive Compensation,’’ and ‘‘Audit Committee Report’’ is not incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder

Matters.

The information required by this Item is set forth in the company’s 2006 Proxy Statement under the heading ‘‘Share Ownership,’’ and

under the heading ‘‘Compensation of Executive Officers’’ under the sub-heading ‘‘Equity Compensation Plan Information,’’ which

information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

None.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is set forth in the company’s 2006 Proxy Statement under the heading ‘‘Independent Registered

Public Accounting Firm,’’ which information is incorporated herein by reference.

part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a)(1) Financial statements. The following consolidated financial statements are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

beginning on page 28:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

24



Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2006 and 2005

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial statement schedule. The following financial statement schedule is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

on page 57:

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted since they are not applicable or the required information is included in the consolidated

financial statements or notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits. See the Index to Exhibits beginning at page 58 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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report of independent registered public accounting firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

of Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, and

the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended

March 31, 2006. We have also audited the accompanying financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a)(2). These

financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on

these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position

of Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries at March 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in

our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole,

presents fairly in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the

effectiveness of Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2006, based on criteria

established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission and our report dated June 6, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s / ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio

June 6, 2006
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report of independent registered public accounting firm

on internal control over financial reporting

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of

Agilysys, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting included elsewhere herein, that Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as

of March 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for

maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the

company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal

control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to

the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only

in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect

on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial

reporting as of March 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, Agilysys, Inc.

and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2006, based on

the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the

consolidated balance sheets of Agilysys, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of

operations, cash flows and shareholders equity for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2006, and our report dated

June 6, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s / ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio

June 6, 2006
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agilysys, inc. and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year ended March 31

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $1,742,460 $1,622,925 $1,403,216

Cost of goods sold 1,513,481 1,415,477 1,222,314

Gross margin 228,979 207,448 180,902

Operating expenses

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 167,779 164,470 142,436

Restructuring charges 5,337 515 2,516

Operating income 55,863 42,463 35,950

Other (income) expenses

Other income, net (1,389) (1,984) (6,687)

Interest income (4,809) (3,310) (2,250)

Interest expense 6,557 6,517 10,318

Loss (gain) on redemption of Mandatorily Redeemable

Convertible Trust Preferred Securities 4,811 — (734)

Loss on retirement of Senior Notes — — 8,595

Income before income taxes 50,693 41,240 26,708

Provision for income taxes 21,158 15,725 9,684

Distributions on Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities,

net of taxes 900 5,153 5,500

Income from continuing operations 28,635 20,362 11,524

Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes 521 877 2,861

Net income $ 28,114 $ 19,485 $ 8,663

Earnings per share — basic

Income from continuing operations $ 0.96 $ 0.72 $ 0.42

Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.03) (0.10)

Net income $ 0.94 $ 0.69 $ 0.32

Earnings per share — diluted

Income from continuing operations $ 0.91 $ 0.69 $ 0.41

Loss from discontinued operations (0.02) (0.02) (0.10)

Net income $ 0.89 $ 0.67 $ 0.31

Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic 29,935,200 28,100,612 27,743,769

Diluted 32,480,576 36,989,981 27,955,865

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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agilysys, inc. and subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2006 2005

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 147,850 $241,880

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $5,880 in 2006 and $5,867 in 2005 267,916 259,998

Inventories, net of allowance of $3,384 in 2006 and $4,686 in 2005 53,004 47,305

Deferred income taxes 10,418 9,379

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,447 5,979

Assets of discontinued operations 437 702

Total current assets 483,072 565,243

Goodwill 191,854 173,774

Intangible assets, net of amortization of $6,606 in 2006 and $2,864 in 2005 11,854 5,796

Investments in affiliated companies 18,821 19,785

Other non-current assets 28,311 20,241

Property and equipment

Land 480 480

Buildings and building improvements 12,745 12,742

Furniture and equipment 49,929 58,016

Software 33,883 32,743

Leasehold improvements 7,980 7,099

105,017 111,080

Accumulated depreciation and amortization 77,089 80,761

Property and equipment, net 27,928 30,319

Total assets $ 761,840 $815,158

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 238,493 $228,775

Accrued liabilities 40,901 37,912

Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities — 125,317

Current portion of long-term debt 59,587 266

Liabilities of discontinued operations 872 1,767

Total current liabilities 339,853 394,037

Long-term debt 99 59,624

Deferred income taxes 16,059 11,657

Other non-current liabilities 20,653 17,389

Shareholders’ Equity

Serial preferred shares, without par value; authorized 5,000,000; issued and outstanding — zero — —

Common shares, without par value, at $0.30 stated value; authorized 80,000,000 shares; 30,526,505

and 28,820,531 shares outstanding in 2006 and 2005, respectively, net of 54,025

and 46,442 shares in treasury in 2006 and 2005, respectively 9,076 8,564

Capital in excess of stated value 113,972 88,927

Retained earnings 260,255 235,749

Unearned compensation on restricted stock awards (168) (873)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 2,041 84

Total shareholders’ equity 385,176 332,451

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 761,840 $815,158

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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agilysys, inc. and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended March 31
2005 2004

(In thousands) 2006 (Revised) (Revised)

Operating activities
Net income $ 28,114 $ 19,485 $ 8,663
Add: Loss from discontinued operations 521 877 2,861

Income from continuing operations 28,635 20,362 11,524
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided by

(used for) operating activities (net of effects from business acquisitions):
Gain on redemption of investment by affiliated company (622) — —
Loss (gain) on redemption of Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible

Trust Preferred Securities 4,811 — (734)
Gain on sale of investments — — (906)
Loss on buyback of Senior Notes — — 8,595
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment 302 (12) (59)
Depreciation 3,412 4,178 4,617
Amortization 7,629 7,417 5,329
Deferred income taxes 753 5,157 284
Changes in working capital:

Accounts receivable (2,906) 31,179 (93,895)
Inventories (5,196) 4,931 2,762
Accounts payable 6,806 20,660 44,526
Accrued liabilities 3,468 (1,131) (4,163)
Other changes, net 3,510 36 (515)

Other non-cash adjustments (652) (1,699) 474

Total adjustments 21,315 70,716 (33,685)

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 49,950 91,078 (22,161)
Investing activities

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (27,964) — (66,653)
Proceeds from redemption of investment by affiliated company 788 — —
Proceeds from sale of business — — 12,670
Purchase of marketable securities (6,822) — —
Acquisition of property and equipment (3,210) (1,951) (1,555)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment — 105 111
Proceeds from sale of investments — — 3,309

Net cash used for investing activities (37,208) (1,846) (52,118)
Financing activities

Redemption of Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (107,536) — (16,973)
Buyback of Senior Notes — — (79,800)
Dividends paid (3,608) (3,330) (3,517)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 5,442 4,006 869
Repurchase of common stock — — (480)
Other (286) (374) (140)

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (105,988) 302 (100,041)
Effect of foreign currency fluctuations on cash 367 810 199

Cash flows (used for) provided by continuing operations (92,879) 90,344 (174,121)
Cash flows of discontinued operations

Operating cash flows (1,151) (1,618) 5,481
Investing cash flows — 3,251 —

Net (decrease) increase in cash (94,030) 91,977 (168,640)
Cash at beginning of period 241,880 149,903 318,543

Cash at end of period $ 147,850 $241,880 $ 149,903

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash payments for interest

Distributions on Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities $ 1,482 $ 8,463 $ 8,466
Other $ 6,068 $ 6,044 $ 11,193

Cash payments for income taxes, net of refunds received $ 10,478 $ 7,205 $ 1,329
Change in value of available-for-sale securities, net of taxes $ 9 $ — $ —

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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agilysys, inc. and subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Stated Unearned Accumulated

value of Capital in Unearned compensation other

Common common excess of Retained employee on restricted comprehensive

(In thousands, except per share data) shares shares stated value earnings benefits stock income (loss) Total

Balance at April 1, 2003 32,057 $ 9,535 $113,655 $214,448 $(30,299) $(4,575) $(4,214) $298,550

Net income — — — 8,663 — — — 8,663

Unrealized translation adjustment — — — — — — 2,811 2,811

Unrealized gain on securities net of $1.0 million in
taxes — — — — — — 1,894 1,894

Reclassification of unrealized gains into earnings, net of
$1.0 million in taxes — — — — — — (1,894) (1,894)

Total comprehensive income 11,474

Value change in subscribed-for shares — — 12,026 — (12,026) — — —

Cash dividends ($0.12 per share) — — — (3,517) — — — (3,517)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 112 34 835 — — — — 869

Tax benefit related to exercise of stock options — — 18 — — — — 18

Purchase of treasury shares (53) (16) (464) — — — — (480)

Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — — 2,076 — 2,076

Balance at March 31, 2004 32,116 9,553 126,070 219,594 (42,325) (2,499) (1,403) 308,990

Net income — — — 19,485 — — — 19,485

Unrealized translation adjustment — — — — — — 1,487 1,487

Total comprehensive income 20,972

Shares returned to Trust 39 12 318 — (330) — — —

Retirement of subscribed-for shares (3,629) (1,089) (41,566) — 42,655 — — —

Cash dividends ($0.12 per share) — — — (3,330) — — — (3,330)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 327 98 3,908 — — — — 4,006

Tax benefit related to exercise of stock options — — 295 — — — — 295

Forfeiture of restricted stock award (39) (12) (319) — — 331 — —

Tax benefit related to forfeiture of restricted stock — — 115 — — — — 115

Issuance of treasury shares 7 2 106 — — — — 108

Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — — 1,295 — 1,295

Balance at March 31, 2005 28,821 8,564 88,927 235,749 — (873) 84 332,451

Net income — — — 28,114 — — — 28,114

Unrealized translation adjustment — — — — — — 1,948 1,948

Unrealized gain on securities net of $4 in taxes — — — — — — 9 9

Total comprehensive income 30,071

Cash dividends ($0.12 per share) — — — (3,608) — — — (3,608)

Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 469 141 5,301 — — — — 5,442

Tax benefit related to exercise of stock options — — 659 — — — — 659

Tax benefit related to forfeiture of restricted stock — — 157 — — — — 157

Shares issued upon conversion of Trust Preferred
Securities 1,265 379 19,031 — — — — 19,410

Forfeiture of restricted stock award (53) (16) (434) — — 450 — —

Restricted stock award 25 8 331 — — (339) — —

Amortization of unearned compensation — — — — — 594 — 594

Balance at March 31, 2006 30,527 $ 9,076 $113,972 $260,255 $ — $ (168) $ 2,041 $385,176

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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agilysys, inc. and subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Table amounts in thousands, except per share data and note 16)

1.
OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Operations. Agilysys, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the ‘‘company’’ or ‘‘Agilysys’’) distributes and resells a broad range of enterprise

computer systems products, including servers, storage, software and services. These products are sold to resellers and commercial

end-users. The company has operations in North America and strategic investments in the United States and Europe.

The company’s fiscal year ends on March 31. References to a particular year refer to the fiscal year ending in March of that year.

For example, 2006 refers to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006.

Principles of consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the company. Investments in affiliated

companies are accounted for by the equity or cost method, as appropriate. All inter-company accounts have been eliminated. Unless

otherwise indicated, amounts in the notes to the consolidated financial statements refer to continuing operations.

Use of estimates. Preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting

principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported

periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition. The company derives revenue from three primary sources: server and storage hardware, software, and

services. Revenue is recorded in the period in which the goods are delivered or services are rendered and when the following criteria

are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the sales price to the

customer is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. The company reduces revenue for discounts, sales incentives,

estimated customer returns and other allowances. Discounts are offered based on the volume of products and services purchased by

customers. Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recognized as revenue and the related costs are recognized in cost of

goods sold.

Regarding hardware sales, revenue is generally recognized when the product is shipped to the customer and when there are not

unfulfilled obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance of the arrangement. A majority of the company’s hardware sales

involves shipment directly from its suppliers to the end-user customers. In such transactions, the company is responsible for negotiating

price both with the supplier and the customer, payment to the supplier, establishing payment terms with the customer, product

returns, and bears credit risk if the customer does not pay for the goods. As the principal with the customer, the company recognizes

revenue and cost of goods sold when it is notified by the supplier that the product has been shipped. In certain limited instances, as

shipping terms dictate, revenue is recognized at the point of destination.

Regarding software sales, the company offers proprietary software as well as remarketed software to its customers. Generally,

software sales do not require significant production, modification, or customization at the time of shipment (physically or electronically)

to the customer. As such, revenue from both proprietary and remarketed software sales is generally recognized when the software

has been shipped. For software delivered electronically, delivery is considered to have occurred when the customer either takes

possession of the software via downloading or has been provided with the requisite codes that allow for immediate access to the

software.

Regarding sales of services, the company offers proprietary and third-party services to its customers. Proprietary services

generally are as follows: consulting, installation, integration, and maintenance. Revenue relating to consulting, installation, and integration

services is recognized when the service is performed. Revenue relating to maintenance services is recognized evenly over the coverage

period of the underlying agreement. In addition to proprietary services, the company offers third-party service contracts to its

customers. In such instances, the supplier is the primary obligor in the transaction and the company bears credit risk in the event of

nonpayment by the customer. Since the company is acting as an agent or broker with respect to such sales transactions, the company

reports revenue only in the amount of the ‘‘commission’’ (equal to the selling price less the cost of sale) received rather than reporting

revenue in the full amount of the selling price with separate reporting of the cost of sale.

Supplier programs. Agilysys participates in certain programs provided by various suppliers that enable it to earn volume

incentives. These incentives are generally earned by achieving quarterly sales targets. The amounts earned under these programs are
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recorded as a reduction of cost of sales when earned. In addition, the company receives incentives from suppliers related to

cooperative advertising allowances, price protection and other programs. These incentives generally relate to agreements with the

suppliers and are recorded, when earned, as a reduction of cost of sales or advertising expense, as appropriate. All costs associated

with advertising and promoting products are expensed in the year incurred. Cooperative reimbursements from suppliers, which are

earned and available, are recorded in the period the related advertising expenditure is incurred.

Valuation of accounts payable. The company’s accounts payable has been reduced by amounts claimed to vendors for returns,

price protection and other amounts related to incentive programs. Amounts related to price protection and other incentive programs

are recorded as adjustments to cost of goods sold or operating expenses, depending on the nature of the program. There is a time

delay between the submission of a claim by the company and confirmation of the claim by our vendors. Historically, the company’s

estimated claims have approximated amounts agreed to by vendors.

Income taxes. Income tax expense includes U.S. and foreign income taxes and is based on reported income before income

taxes. Deferred income taxes reflect the effect of temporary differences between assets and liabilities that are recognized for financial

reporting purposes and the amounts that are recognized for income tax purposes. These deferred taxes are measured by applying

currently enacted tax laws. Valuation allowances are recognized to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that is more likely than

not to be realized. In determining whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will be realized, the company considers

such factors as (a) expectations of future taxable income, (b) expectations of material changes in the present relationship between

income reported for financial and tax purposes, and (c) tax-planning strategies.

Foreign currency. The functional currency of the company’s Canadian subsidiary is its local currency. For this foreign operation,

the assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates. Statement of

operations accounts are translated at the monthly average exchange rates prevailing during the year. The gains or losses resulting from

these translations are recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Foreign currency gains and losses from changes in

exchange rates have not been material to the consolidated operating results.

Cash and cash equivalents. The company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three

months or less to be cash equivalents. Other highly liquid investments considered cash equivalents with no established maturity date

are fully redeemable on demand (without penalty) with settlement of principal and accrued interest on the following business day after

instruction to redeem. Such investments are readily convertible to cash with no penalty.

Investment in marketable securities. The company invests in marketable securities to satisfy future obligations of its employee

benefit plans. The marketable securities are held in a Rabbi Trust. The company’s investments in marketable equity securities are held

for an indefinite period and thus are classified as available for sale. The securities are recorded at fair value in other non-current assets

on the balance sheet, with the change in fair value during the period excluded from earnings and recorded net of tax as a component

of other comprehensive income. The aggregate fair value of the securities at March 31, 2006 was $6.8 million. The aggregate

unrealized holding gain for the securities at March 31, 2006 was $13,000.
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Fair value of financial instruments. Estimated fair value of the company’s financial instruments are as follows:

2006 2005

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

value value value value

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $147,850 $147,850 $241,880 $241,880

Accounts receivable 267,916 267,916 259,998 259,998

Marketable securities 6,835 6,835 — —

Liabilities:

Accounts payable $238,493 $238,493 $228,775 $228,775

Senior Notes 59,388 59,833 59,388 62,004

Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities — — 125,317 150,381

The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value due to the

short term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the company’s marketable securities is estimated based on quoted market

prices. The fair value of the company’s Senior Notes is estimated using rates currently available for securities with similar terms and

remaining maturities. The fair value of the Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities represents market value as

determined in the over the counter market.

Investments in affiliated companies. The company enters into certain investments for the promotion of business and strategic

objectives, and typically does not attempt to reduce or eliminate the inherent market risks on these investments. The company has

investments in affiliates accounted for using the equity method and the cost method. For those investments accounted for under the

equity method, the company’s proportionate share of income or losses from affiliated companies is recorded in other

(income) expense.

Concentrations of credit risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the company to concentrations of credit risk consist

principally of accounts receivable. Concentration of credit risk on accounts receivable is mitigated by the company’s large number of

customers and their dispersion across many different industries and geographies. The company extends credit based on customers’

financial condition and generally, collateral is not required. To further reduce credit risk associated with accounts receivable, the

company also performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers.

Allowance for doubtful accounts. The company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the

inability of its customers to make required payments. These allowances are based on both recent trends of certain customers

estimated to be a greater credit risk as well as historic trends of the entire customer pool. If the financial condition of the company’s

customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. To

mitigate this credit risk the company performs frequent credit evaluations of its customers.

Concentrations of supplier risk. The company sells products supplied by five primary suppliers. The company’s largest supplier,

IBM, supplied 71%, 72% and 72% of the company’s sales volume in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Sales of products sourced by

HP accounted for 15%, 16% and 16% of the company’s sales volume in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The loss of either of the

top two suppliers or a combination of certain other suppliers could have a material adverse effect on the company’s business, results

of operations and financial condition unless alternative products manufactured by others are available to the company. In addition,

although the company believes that its relationships with suppliers are good, there can be no assurance that the company’s suppliers

will continue to supply products on terms acceptable to the company.

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, net of related reserves. The cost of inventory is computed

using a weighted-average method on a first-in, first-out basis. The company’s inventory is monitored to ensure appropriate valuation.

Adjustments of inventories to the lower of cost or market, if necessary, are based upon contractual provisions governing price
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protection, stock rotation (right of return status), and technological obsolescence, as well as turnover and assumptions about future

demand and market conditions.

Intangible assets. Purchased intangible assets with finite lives are primarily amortized using the straight-line method over the

estimated economic lives of the assets. Purchased intangible assets relating to customer relationships are being amortized using an

accelerated method, which reflects the period the asset is expected to contribute to the future cash flows of the company. The

company’s finite-lived intangible assets are being amortized over periods ranging from three to ten years. The company has an

indefinite-lived intangible asset relating to purchased trade names. The indefinite-lived intangible asset is not amortized; rather, it is

tested for impairment at least annually by comparing the carrying amount of the asset with the fair value. An impairment loss is

recognized if the carrying amount is greater than fair value.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess purchase price paid over the fair value of the net assets of acquired companies.

Goodwill is subject to periodic impairment testing at least annually. The company conducted its annual goodwill impairment test as of

February 1, 2006 and 2005 and, based on the analyses, concluded that goodwill was not impaired. Goodwill will also be tested as

necessary if changes in circumstances or the occurrence of certain events indicate potential impairment.

Long-lived assets. Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized, as are

interest costs on capital projects. Minor replacements, maintenance, repairs and reengineering costs are expensed as incurred. When

assets are sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any

resulting gain or loss is recognized.

Depreciation and amortization are provided in amounts sufficient to amortize the cost of the assets, including assets recorded

under capital leases, which make up a negligible portion of total assets, over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives for depreciation and amortization are as follows: buildings and building improvements — 7 to 30 years;

furniture — 7 to 10 years; equipment — 3 to 10 years; software — 3 to 10 years; and leasehold improvements over the shorter of

the economic life or the lease term. Internal use software costs are expensed or capitalized depending on the project stage. Amounts

capitalized are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the software, ranging from 3 to 10 years, beginning with the project’s

completion. Total depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment was $6.2 million, $7.0 million and $7.8 million

during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The company evaluates the recoverability of its long-lived assets whenever changes in circumstances or events may indicate that

the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized in the event the carrying value of the assets exceeds

the future undiscounted cash flows attributable to such assets.

Stock-based compensation. The company applies the recognition and measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board

(‘‘APB’’) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, to account for employee stock compensation costs, which is referred

to as the intrinsic value method. Since the exercise price of the company’s employee stock options equals the market price of the

underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation cost is recognized for the company’s stock option plans. The company has

adopted the disclosure provisions of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by FASB

Statement 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.
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The following table shows the effects on net income and earnings per share had compensation cost been measured on the fair

value method pursuant to Statement 123. The pro forma expense determined under the fair value method presented in the table

below relates only to stock options that were granted as of March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. Accordingly, the impact of applying the

fair value method is not indicative of future amounts.

For the year ended

2006 2005 2004

Net income, as reported (a) $28,114 $19,485 $ 8,663

Compensation cost based on fair value method, net of taxes (2,656) (1,908) (3,564)

Pro forma net income $25,458 $17,577 $ 5,099

Earnings per share — basic

As reported $ 0.94 $ 0.69 $ 0.32

Pro forma 0.85 0.63 0.19

Earnings per share — diluted

As reported $ 0.89 $ 0.67 $ 0.31

Pro forma 0.81 0.61 0.18

(a) Includes stock compensation expense, net of taxes, for restricted stock awards of: $ 346 $ 802 $ 1,322

Earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the

weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number

of common and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding during the period and adjusting income available to common

shareholders for the assumed conversion of all potentially dilutive securities, as necessary. The dilutive common equivalent shares

outstanding is computed by sequencing each series of issues of potential common shares from the most dilutive to the least dilutive.

Diluted earnings per share is determined as the lowest earnings per incremental share in the sequence of potential common shares.

Comprehensive income. Comprehensive income is the total of net income plus all other changes in net assets arising from non-

owner sources, which are referred to as other comprehensive income. Changes in the components of other comprehensive income

and in accumulated other comprehensive income for 2006 are as follows:

Foreign Accumulated

currency Unrealized other

translation gains on comprehensive

adjustment securities income

Balance at March 31, 2005 $ 84 $ — $ 84

Change during 2006 1,948 9 1,957

Balance at March 31, 2006 $2,032 $ 9 $2,041

Segment reporting. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is

available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing

performance. Operating segments can be aggregated for segment reporting purposes so long as certain aggregation criteria are met.

The company has concluded that its two operating segments meet the necessary aggregation criteria for reporting one consolidated

business segment. See note 13 for a discussion of the company’s segment reporting.

Related party transactions. The Secretary of the company is also a partner of the law firm Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP

(‘‘Calfee’’), which provides legal services to the company. Legal costs paid to Calfee by the company are not material to consolidated

operating results.
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Non-cash Investing Activities. During 2006, a portion of the company’s investment in an affiliated company was redeemed by the

affiliated company for $2.2 million, of which $1.4 million was a non-cash exchange and $0.8 million was received in cash. The

investment, which is accounted for using the cost method, had a carrying value of $1.6 million, resulting in a $0.6 million gain on

redemption of investment in affiliated company.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards (‘‘Statement’’) 123 (revised 2004), Share Based Payment, which is a revision of Statement 123.

Statement 123(R) requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in

operating results based on their fair values. Statement 123(R) will be effective for the company on April 1, 2006, the beginning of the

company’s fiscal 2007.

Statement 123(R) permits public companies to adopt its requirements using one of two methods: (1) a ‘‘modified prospective’’

method in which compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective date (a) based on the requirements of State-

ment 123(R) for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the requirements of Statement 123 for all

awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of Statement 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date, or (2) a

‘‘modified retrospective’’ method which includes the requirements of the modified prospective method described above, but also

permits entities to restate based on the amounts previously recognized under Statement 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures

either (a) all prior periods presented or (b) prior interim periods of the year of adoption. The company plans to use the modified

prospective method to adopt the provisions of Statement 123(R).

As permitted by Statement 123, the company currently accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB Opinion

No. 25’s intrinsic value method and, as such, recognizes no compensation cost for employee stock options. Accordingly, the adoption

of Statement 123(R)’s fair value method will have an impact on the company’s consolidated operating results. The impact of adoption

of Statement 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the future.

However, had the company adopted Statement 123(R) in prior periods, the company believes the impact would have approximated

the impact of Statement 123 as described in the disclosure of pro forma net income and earnings per share in Note 1.

Statement 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as financing

cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash

flows and increase net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. While the company cannot estimate what those amounts will be

in the future (because they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options), the amount of operating cash

flows recognized in prior periods for such excess tax deductions has not been significant.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, which replaces APB Opinion No. 20,

Accounting Changes, and Statement 3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements, and provides guidance on the

accounting for and reporting of accounting changes and error corrections. Statement 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting

principle and requires retrospective application (a term defined by the statement) to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is

impracticable to determine the effect of a change. It also applies to changes required by an accounting pronouncement that does not

include specific transition provisions. In addition, Statement 154 redefines restatement as the revising of previously issued financial

statements to reflect the correction of an error. The statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The Company will adopt Statement 154 beginning April 1, 2006.

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement 151, Inventory Costs — An amendment of ARB No. 43. Statement 151 clarifies that

abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage should be expensed as incurred and not included in

overhead. Further, Statement 151 requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to conversion costs should be based on

normal capacity of the production facilities. Statement 151 is effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after

June 15, 2005. Companies must apply the standard prospectively. The adoption of Statement 151 is not expected to have a material

impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

Reclassifications. Certain amounts in the prior periods’ Consolidated Financial Statements have been reclassified to conform to

the current period’s presentation. In 2006, the company has separately disclosed the operating, investing and financing portions of the

cash flows attributable to its discontinued operations, which in prior periods were reported on a combined basis as a single amount.
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2.
RECENT ACQUISITIONS

In accordance with FASB Statement 141, Business Combinations, the company allocates the cost of its acquisitions to the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the cost over the fair value of the net assets

acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Mainline China and Hong Kong

On December 8, 2005, the company acquired the China and Hong Kong operations of Mainline Information Systems, Inc. Accordingly,

the results of operations for the China and Hong Kong operations have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial

statements from that date forward. The business specializes in IBM information technology enterprise solutions for large and medium-

sized businesses and banking institutions in the China market, and has sales offices in Beijing, Guangzhou, Shanghai and Hong Kong. The

business provides the company the opportunity to begin operations in China with a nucleus of local workforce. The acquisition price

for the China and Hong Kong operations was $0.8 million, which included $0.3 million of direct acquisition costs. Based on

management’s preliminary allocation of the acquisition cost to the net assets acquired, approximately $0.8 million was assigned to

goodwill in the current year.

The CTS Corporations

On May 31, 2005, the company acquired The CTS Corporations (‘‘CTS’’), a leading independent services organization, specializing in

information technology storage solutions for large and medium-sized corporate customers and public-sector clients. Accordingly, the

results of operations for CTS have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements from that date forward. The

addition of CTS enhances the company’s offering of comprehensive storage solutions. The acquisition price was $27.8 million, which

included repayment of $2.6 million of CTS debt and $0.2 million of direct acquisition expenses. Additionally, the company would be

obligated to pay an earn-out to former CTS shareholders if the acquired business achieves specific financial performance targets. As of

March 31, 2006, it is not likely that the financial performance targets will be met by the end of the earn-out period.

Based on management’s initial allocation of the acquisition cost to the net assets acquired, approximately $24.1 million was

assigned to goodwill in the first quarter of 2006. During the second quarter, the company adjusted the estimated fair value of acquired

income tax assets and liabilities by approximately $0.5 million, with a corresponding decrease to goodwill. During the third quarter,

specifically identifiable intangible assets were assigned a fair value of $9.8 million with a corresponding reduction to goodwill. The

resulting deferred tax adjustment was $3.8 million with a corresponding increase to goodwill. Of the intangible assets acquired,

$9.4 million was assigned to customer relationships, which is being amortized over ten years using an accelerated method and

$0.4 million was assigned to non-compete agreements, which are being amortized over four years using the straight-line method.

Goodwill resulting from the CTS acquisition will not be deductible for income tax purposes.

3.
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

During 2003, the company sold substantially all of the assets and liabilities of its Industrial Electronics Division (‘‘IED’’), which distributed

semiconductors, interconnect, passive and electromechanical components, power supplies, and embedded computer products in

North America. In connection with the sale of IED, the company discontinued the operations of Aprisa, Inc. (‘‘Aprisa’’), which was an

internet-based start up corporation that created customized software for the electronic components market. The disposition of IED

and discontinuance of Aprisa represented a disposal of a component of an entity as defined by FASB Statement 144, Accounting for the

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The company continues to incur certain costs related to IED and Aprisa, which are

reported in the consolidated statements of operations as loss from discontinued operations.
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For the years ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the company realized a loss from discontinued operations of $0.5 million

(net of $0.3 million in taxes), $0.9 million (net of $0.5 million in taxes), and $2.9 million (net of $2.7 million in taxes), respectively.

Ongoing expenses mainly relate to occupancy costs associated with exited facilities.

At March 31, 2006, the assets of discontinued operations were $0.4 million and related to accounts receivable and deferred

income taxes. The liabilities of discontinued operations were $0.9 million and related to liabilities for ongoing lease commitments and

deferred income taxes.

4.
RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

Continuing Operations

2006 Restructuring. During 2006, the company consolidated a portion of its operations to reduce costs and increase operating

efficiencies. As part of that restructuring effort, the company shut down certain leased facilities and reduced the workforce of its

KeyLink Systems Group and professional services business. The company also executed a senior management realignment and

consolidation of responsibilities. Costs incurred in connection with the restructuring comprise one-time termination benefits and other

associated costs resulting from workforce reductions as well as facilities costs relating to the exit of certain leased facilities. For the

twelve-months ended March 31, 2006, costs incurred for one-time termination benefits and other associated costs resulting from

workforce reductions amounted to $2.5 million and facilities costs resulting from the exit of leased facilities amounted to $1.7 million.

The charges were classified as restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations. Facilities costs represent the present

value of qualifying exit costs, offset by an estimate for future sublease income.

2003 Restructuring. In the fourth quarter of 2003, concurrent with the sale of IED, the company announced it would restructure

its remaining enterprise computer solutions business and facilities to reduce overhead and eliminate assets that were inconsistent with

the company’s strategic plan and were no longer required. In connection with this reorganization, the company recorded restructuring

charges totaling $20.7 million for the impairment of facilities and other assets no longer required as well as severance, incentives, and

other employee benefit costs for personnel whose employment was involuntarily terminated. The charges were classified as

restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations. Severance, incentives, and other employee benefit costs were paid

to approximately 110 personnel. Facilities costs represent the present value of qualifying exit costs, offset by an estimate for future

sublease income for a vacant warehouse that represents excess capacity as a result of the sale of IED.
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Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the restructuring liability:

Severance

and other

employment

costs Facilities Total

Balance at April 1, 2004 $ 25 $ 5,794 $ 5,819

Accretion of lease obligations — 427 427

Payments (25) (851) (876)

Adjustments — 88 88

Balance at March 31, 2005 — 5,458 5,458

Additions 2,516 1,719 4,235

Accretion of lease obligations — 504 504

Payments (1,894) (1,269) (3,163)

Adjustments (492) (166) (658)

Balance at March 31, 2006 $ 130 $6,246 $6,376

The $0.5 million adjustment to severance and other employment costs in 2006 represents the net cost of certain incentive and

benefit plan obligations that were included in the restructuring charge and subsequently reclassified. The $0.2 million adjustment to

facilities in 2006 represents adjustments to the remaining facility obligations for sublease agreements and early termination agreements,

with an offset to the restructuring charges in the consolidated statement of operations.

Included in the consolidated statement of operations is $5.3 million of restructuring charges for 2006, which is comprised of the

following: $4.2 million additions to the restructuring liability, $0.5 million accretion of lease obligations, $0.8 million relating to the write-

off of leasehold improvements and differences between actual and accrued sub-lease income and common area costs; offset by

$0.2 million of adjustments to the remaining facility obligations in the restructuring.

Of the remaining $6.4 million liability at March 31, 2006, approximately $0.1 million is expected to be paid during 2007 for

severance and other employment costs and approximately $1.2 million is expected to be paid during 2007 for ongoing facility

obligations. Severance and other employment costs will continue through 2007 and facility obligations are expected to continue until

2017.

Discontinued Operations

In connection with the sale of IED in 2003, the company recognized a restructuring charge of $28.7 million. The significant components

of the charge were as follows: $5.9 million related to severance and other employee benefit costs to be paid to approximately

525 employees previously employed by IED and not hired by the acquiring company; $5.0 million related to facilities costs for

approximately 30 vacated locations no longer required as a result of the sale that were determined as the present value of qualifying

exit costs offset by an estimate for future sublease income; and $17.4 million related to the write down of assets to fair value that were

abandoned or classified as ‘‘held for sale,’’ as a result of the disposition and discontinuance of IED and Aprisa, respectively.
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Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the restructuring liability related to discontinued operations:

Severance

and other

employment

costs Facilities Other Total

Balance at April 1, 2004 $ 24 $ 3,260 $ 55 $ 3,339

Accretion of lease obligations — 96 — 96

Payments (24) (1,295) — (1,319)

Adjustments — (422) (55) (477)

Balance at March 31, 2005 — 1,639 — 1,639

Accretion of lease obligations — 65 — 65

Payments — (672) — (672)

Adjustments — — — —

Balance at March 31, 2006 $ — $1,032 $ — $1,032

Of the remaining $1.0 million reserve at March 31, 2006, approximately $0.6 million is expected to be paid during 2007 for

ongoing obligations of vacated facilities. Facilities obligations are expected to continue until 2010.

5.
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

2006 2005

Beginning of year $173,774 $179,975

Goodwill acquired — CTS (see note 2) 17,637 —

Goodwill acquired — Mainline China and Hong Kong (see note 2) 785 —

Goodwill adjustment — Kyrus (391) (753)

Goodwill adjustment — IAD — (5,547)

Impact of foreign currency translation 49 99

End of year $191,854 $173,774

The company acquired Kyrus Corporation (‘‘Kyrus’’) on September 30, 2003. The $0.4 million adjustment to goodwill relating to

Kyrus is for the settlement of tax uncertainties that existed at the date of acquisition. The company may have to record additional

amounts for similar tax uncertainties in the future; however, such amounts cannot be estimated at this time. Any additional amounts

recorded by the company for tax uncertainties that existed at the date of acquisition will result in a change to goodwill.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level. Statement 142 describes a reporting unit as an operating segment

or one level below the operating segment (depending on whether certain criteria are met), as that term is used in FASB
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Statement 131, Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. Goodwill has been allocated to the company’s

reporting units that are anticipated to benefit from the synergies of the business combinations generating the underlying goodwill.

As of February 1, 2006, which was the latest annual impairment test performed, the company concluded that the fair value of its

two reporting units exceeded their carrying value, including goodwill. As such, step two of the goodwill impairment test was not

necessary and no impairment loss was recognized. As of March 31, 2006, the company was not aware of any circumstances or events

requiring an interim impairment test of goodwill.

Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes the company’s intangible assets at March 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005

Gross Net Gross Net

carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying

amount Amortization amount amount Amortization amount

Amortized intangible assets:

Customer relationships $14,700 $(5,680) $ 9,020 $5,300 $(2,418) $2,882

Non-competition agreements 1,310 (361) 949 910 (151) 759

Developed technology 1,470 (509) 961 1,470 (266) 1,204

Patented technology 80 (56) 24 80 (29) 51

17,560 (6,606) 10,954 7,760 (2,864) 4,896

Unamortized intangible assets:

Trade names 900 N/A 900 900 N/A 900

Total intangible assets $18,460 $(6,606) $11,854 $8,660 $(2,864) $5,796

Customer relationships are being amortized over an estimated useful life between five and ten years; non-competition agree-

ments are being amortized over an estimated useful life between four and eight years; developed technology is being amortized over

an estimated useful life between six and eight years; and patented technology is being amortized over an estimated useful life of

3 years.

Amortization expense relating to intangible assets for the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was $3.7 million and

$2.9 million, respectively. The estimated amortization expense relating to intangible assets for each of the five succeeding fiscal years is

as follows: 2007 — $3.1 million, 2008 — $2.6 million, 2009 — $1.7 million, 2010 — $1.3 million, and 2011 — $1.0 million.
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6.
INVESTMENTS

At March 31, 2006 and 2005, the company’s investments consisted of the following:

2006 2005

Magirus AG $15,378 $14,737

Other non-marketable equity securities 3,443 5,048

Total $18,821 $19,785

Magirus AG

The company maintains an equity interest in Magirus AG (‘‘Magirus’’), a privately-owned European enterprise computer systems

distributor headquartered in Stuttgart, Germany. The company has a 20% interest in Magirus and accounts for the investment under

the equity method. Accordingly, the investment was initially recorded at cost and the carrying amount has been subsequently adjusted

to reflect the company’s share of operating results as well as dividends received from Magirus, foreign currency translation and

additional contributions made by the company.

Other Non-Marketable Equity Securities

Other non-marketable equity securities consist of capital stock ownership in a privately held company where a market value is not

readily available and the company does not exercise significant influence over its operating and financial policies. As such, the

investment is stated at cost, which does not exceed estimated net realizable value.

Sale of Investment

During 2004, the company sold its investment in Eurodis Electron PLC (‘‘Eurodis’’), a publicly traded European enterprise computer

systems distributor. The realized gain was determined on the basis of specific identification of securities sold since the company

liquidated its entire securities holding. Sales proceeds and realized gain on the sale were $3.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

7.
LEASE COMMITMENTS

Capital Leases

The company is the lessee of certain equipment under capital leases expiring in various years through 2008. The assets and liabilities

under capital leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the asset. The

assets are depreciated over the lower of their related lease terms or their estimated productive lives. Depreciation of assets under

capital leases is included in depreciation expense.
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Minimum future lease payments under capital leases as of March 31, 2006 for each of the next five years and in the aggregate are:

Amount

Year ending March 31

2007 $200

2008 112

2009 —

2010 —

2011 —

Total minimum lease payments 312

Less: amount representing interest (14)

Present value of minimum lease payments $298

Interest rates on capitalized leases vary from 5.3% to 9.5% and are imputed based on the lower of the company’s incremental

borrowing rate at the inception of each lease or the lessor’s implicit rate of return.

Operating Leases

The company leases certain office and warehouse facilities and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases which expire at

various dates through 2017. Certain facilities and equipment leases contain renewal options for periods up to 10 years. In most cases,

management expects that in the normal course of business, leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases.

The following is a schedule by years of future minimum rental payments required under operating leases, excluding real estate

taxes and insurance, which have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of a year as of March 31, 2006:

Continuing Discontinued

operations operations Total

Year ending March 31

2007 $ 6,060 $ 570 $ 6,630

2008 5,197 435 5,632

2009 4,366 428 4,794

2010 3,820 429 4,249

2011 3,264 169 3,433

Thereafter 13,348 — 13,348

Total minimum lease payments $36,055 $2,031 $38,086

Total minimum future rental payments have been reduced by $2.2 million of sublease rentals to be received in the future under

non-cancelable subleases. Rental expense for all non-cancelable operating leases amounted to $6.9 million, $8.1 million, and

$7.0 million for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
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8.
FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

The following is a summary of long-term obligations at March 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 2005

Senior Notes, due August 2006 $ 59,388 $59,388

Capital lease obligations 298 502

59,686 59,890

Less: current maturities of long-term obligations (59,587) (266)

$ 99 $59,624

The principal amount of Senior Notes outstanding at March 31, 2006 and March 31, 2005 was $59.4 million. The Senior Notes

are due in August 2006. Accordingly, the Senior Notes have been classified as a current liability at March 31, 2006. The Senior Notes

pay interest semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 at an annual rate of 9.5%. Interest accrued on the Senior Notes as of March 31,

2006 and March 31, 2005 was approximately $0.9 million.

The indenture under which the Senior Notes were issued limits the creation of liens, sale and leaseback transactions, consolidations,

mergers and transfers of all or substantially all of the company’s assets, and indebtedness of the company’s restricted subsidiaries. The

Senior Notes are subject to mandatory repurchase by the company at the option of the holders in the event of a change in control of the

company. The fair value of the Senior Notes was $59.8 million and $62.0 million at March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Revolving Credit Agreement

On October 18, 2005, the company entered into a $200 million five-year unsecured credit facility. The new credit facility includes a

$20 million sub-facility for letters of credit and a $20 million sub-facility for swingline loans. The new credit facility is available to retire

existing debt, fund working capital requirements and capital expenditures, or for general corporate purposes of the company including

acquisitions. Borrowings under the new credit facility will generally bear interest at various levels over LIBOR.

In connection with entry into the new credit facility, the company terminated its three-year $100 million unsecured credit facility,

dated April 16, 2003, as amended. As a result of the termination, the company wrote off deferred financing fees of $0.1 million in the

third quarter of 2006. The financing fees, incurred at the time of entering into the facility, were being amortized over the life of the

facility. No amounts were outstanding under the credit facility during 2006 or upon termination.

9.
MANDATORILY REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE TRUST PREFERRED SECURITIES

In 1998, Pioneer-Standard Financial Trust (the ‘‘Pioneer-Standard Trust’’) issued 2,875,000 shares relating to $143.7 million of 6.75%

Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred Securities (the ‘‘Trust Preferred Securities’’). The Pioneer-Standard Trust, a

statutory business trust, was a wholly-owned consolidated subsidiary of the company, with its sole asset being $148.2 million aggregate

principal amount of 6.75% Junior Convertible Subordinated Debentures of Agilysys, Inc. due March 31, 2028 (the ‘‘Trust Debentures’’).

The company had executed a guarantee with regard to the Trust Preferred Securities. The guarantee, when taken together with the

company’s obligations under the Trust Debentures, the indenture pursuant to which the Trust Debentures were issued and the

applicable trust document, provided a full and unconditional guarantee of the Pioneer-Standard Trust’s obligations under the

Trust Preferred Securities. The Trust Preferred Securities were non-voting (except in limited circumstances), paid quarterly distribu-

tions at an annual rate of 6.75%, carried a liquidation value of $50 per share and were convertible at the option of the holder into the

company’s Common Shares at any time prior to the close of business on March 31, 2028. After March 31, 2003, the Trust Preferred

Securities were redeemable, at the option of the company, for a redemption price of 103.375% of par reduced annually by 0.675% to
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a minimum of $50 per Trust Preferred Security. As of March 31, 2005, the Trust Preferred Securities were redeemable at the option of

the company for a redemption price of 102.025%.

During 2005, 2,152 Trust Preferred Securities were converted into 6,831 shares of the company’s common stock. The

conversion reduced the carrying value of the Trust Preferred Securities to $125.3 million. As of March 31, 2005, a total of 368,652

Trust Preferred Securities had been redeemed or converted by the company.

On June 15, 2005, the company completed the redemption of its 6.75% Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Trust Preferred

Securities (‘‘Securities’’). The carrying value of the Securities as of March 31, 2005 was $125.3 million and was classified as a current

liability. Securities with a carrying value of $105.4 million were redeemed for cash at a total cost of $109.0 million, which included

accrued interest of $1.5 million and a 2.025% premium of $2.1 million. The company funded the redemption with existing cash. In

addition, 398,324 Securities with a carrying value of $19.9 million were converted into common shares of the company. Approxi-

mately $0.5 million of deferred financing fees were applied against capital in excess of stated value in connection with the conversion.

The Securities were converted at the conversion rate of 3.1746 common shares for each share of the Securities converted, resulting in

the issuance of 1,264,505 common shares of the company.

As a result of the redemption, the company wrote off deferred financing fees of $2.7 million in the first quarter of 2006. The

financing fees, incurred at the time of issuing the Securities, were being amortized over a 30-year period ending on March 31, 2028,

which was the initial maturity date of the Securities. The write-off of deferred financing fees, along with the premium payment

discussed above, resulted in a loss on retirement of debt of $4.8 million.

10.
INCOME TAXES

The components of income (loss) before income taxes from continuing operations and income tax provision are as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Income (loss) before income taxes

Domestic $51,093 $41,346 $27,257

Foreign (400) (106) (549)

Total $50,693 $41,240 $26,708

Provision for income taxes

Current

Federal $18,342 $ 9,362 $ 7,886

State and local 1,630 889 60

Foreign 438 121 127

Total 20,410 10,372 8,073

Deferred

Federal 666 6,325 856

State and local 79 (3,216) 992

Foreign 3 2,244 (237)

Total 748 5,353 1,611

Provision for income taxes $21,158 $15,725 $ 9,684
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to the company’s effective income tax rate for continuing operations is as follows:

2006 2005 2004

Statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Provision (benefit) for state taxes 5.3 4.8 (1.3)

Change in valuation allowance (2.7) (3.0) 3.9

Settlement of income tax audits 2.6 (0.5) (2.4)

Foreign rate differential — — 0.3

Meals & entertainment 1.4 1.4 1.6

Other, net 0.1 0.4 (0.8)

Effective rate 41.7% 38.1% 36.3%

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows:

2006 2005

Deferred tax assets:

Capitalized inventory costs $ 352 $ 291

Accrued liabilities 6,806 4,433

Allowance for doubtful accounts 2,059 2,055

Inventory valuation reserve 2,897 3,618

Restructuring reserve 2,414 2,052

Federal domestic net operating losses 307 1,119

Foreign net operating losses 2,202 1,696

Property and equipment 2,218 2,240

Capital loss carryforward 754 —

State net operating losses 5,204 7,188

Other 513 626

25,726 25,318

Less: valuation allowance (6,484) (7,309)

Total $19,242 $18,009

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred revenue $ 84 $ 203

Software amortization 2,368 2,719

Goodwill and other intangible assets 21,598 15,826

Other 833 349

Total $24,883 $19,097

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (5,641) $ (1,088)
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At March 31, 2006, the company had $0.9 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in years 2023

through 2025, a $2.2 million capital loss carryforward acquired in the 2006 acquisition of CTS that expires, if unused, in 2007, and

$6.1 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in years 2007 through 2013. At March 31, 2006, the

company also had $146.9 million of state net operating loss carryforwards that expire, if unused, in years 2007 through 2024. Of the

total state net operating loss carryforwards, $5.9 million resulted from the company’s 2004 acquisition of Kyrus Corporation.

At March 31, 2006 the total valuation allowance against deferred tax assets of $6.5 million was mainly comprised of a valuation

allowance of $2.9 million associated with deferred tax assets in Canada and China that more likely than not will not be realized, a

valuation allowance of $0.8 million related to the capital loss carryforward acquired in the CTS acquisition, and a valuation allowance

for state net operating loss carryforwards of $2.8 million that more likely than not will not be realized.

In the current year, the company recognized tax expense and reduced goodwill for the tax benefit of $0.2 million related to the

valuation allowance on acquired state net operating loss carryforwards in the Kyrus transaction. If realized in future years, $0.1 million

of the valuation allowance related to the Kyrus Corporation state net operating loss carryforwards will reduce goodwill. In the year

ended March 31, 2006, the company recognized tax expense and reduced goodwill for the tax benefit of $0.2 million related to the

valuation allowance on acquired capital loss carryforwards in the CTS acquisition. If realized in 2007, $0.8 million of the valuation

allowance related to the CTS capital loss carryforwards will reduce goodwill.

11.
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The company maintains profit-sharing and 401(k) plans for employees meeting certain service requirements. Generally, the plans allow

eligible employees to contribute a portion of their compensation, with the company matching a percentage thereof. The company may

also make discretionary contributions each year for the benefit of all eligible employees under the plans. Total profit sharing and

company matching contributions were $2.9 million, $2.9 million, and $2.2 million for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

The company also provides a non-qualified benefit equalization plan covering certain employees, which provides for employee

deferrals and company retirement deferrals so that the total retirement deferrals equal amounts that would have been contributed to

the company’s 401(k) plan if it were not for limitations imposed by income tax regulations. Contribution expense for the benefit

equalization plan was $0.1 million in 2006, 2005, and 2004.

The company also provides a supplemental executive retirement plan (‘‘SERP’’) for certain officers of the company. The SERP is a

non-qualified plan designed to provide retirement benefits and life insurance for the plan participants. The projected benefit obligation

related to the SERP was $12.0 million at March 31, 2006, of which $9.9 million has been accrued in accordance with FASB Statement

87, Employers Accounting for Pensions. The company also recognized an intangible asset of $2.0 million in 2006 in accordance with

Statement 87. The projected benefit obligation related to the SERP was $11.9 million at March 31, 2005, of which $8.8 million had

been accrued at March 31, 2005. The annual expense for the SERP was $2.0 million, $3.6 million, and $0.6 million in 2006, 2005, and

2004, respectively.

In conjunction with the benefit equalization plan and SERP, the company has invested in life insurance policies related to certain

employees and marketable securities held in a Rabbi Trust to satisfy future obligations of the plans. The value of the policies and

marketable securities was $19.5 million and $6.3 million at March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The life insurance policies are

valued at their cash surrender value and the marketable securities held in a Rabbi Trust are valued at the fair market value.

12.
CONTINGENCIES

The company is the subject of various threatened or pending legal actions and contingencies in the normal course of conducting its

business. The company provides for costs related to these matters when a loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably

estimated. The effect of the outcome of these matters on the company’s future results of operations and liquidity cannot be predicted

because any such effect depends on future results of operations and the amount or timing of the resolution of such matters. While it is

not possible to predict with certainty, management believes that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a material

adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the company.

50



13.
BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The company is a leading distributor and premier reseller of enterprise computer technology solutions. The company is principally

engaged in the distribution and reselling of three specific product areas: server and storage hardware, software, and services. These

technology solutions are offered to two primary customer groups, value-added resellers, which often are privately held with annual

sales ranging from approximately $10 million to $400 million, and end-user customers, which range from medium to large

corporations as well as the public sector.

The company’s chief operating decision maker (i.e., chief executive officer) reviews financial information presented at varying

levels of detail for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. The chief operating decision maker’s

primary review, however, focuses on the company’s two primary customer groups. In accordance with FASB Statement 131,

Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, the company has two operating segments separated between the

customer group focus. Given the similar economic characteristics between the two operating segments and the other aggregation

criteria established by Statement 131, the company’s two operating segments have been combined into one reportable business

segment. Reporting segment information as a consolidated entity is consistent with the company’s focus on providing enterprise

computer technology solutions to its customers.

The company’s assets are primarily located in the United States. Further, revenues attributable to customers outside the United

States accounted for less than 5% of total revenues for 2006, 2005, and 2004. Total revenues for the company’s three specific product

areas are as follows:

For the year ended March 31

2006 2005 2004

Hardware $1,377,695 $1,321,831 $1,134,762

Software 260,525 221,718 211,974

Services 104,240 79,376 56,480

Total $1,742,460 $1,622,925 $1,403,216

14.
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital Stock

Holders of the company’s common shares are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters to be submitted to a

vote of the shareholders. At March 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Dividend Payments

Common share dividends were paid quarterly at the rate of $0.03 per share in 2006 and 2005 to shareholders of record.

Shareholder Rights Plan

On April 27, 1999, the company’s Board of Directors approved a new Shareholder Rights Plan, which became effective upon

expiration of the existing plan on May 10, 1999. A dividend of one Right per common share was distributed to shareholders of record

as of May 10, 1999. Each Right, upon the occurrence of certain events, entitles the holder to buy from the company one-tenth of a
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common share at a price of $4.00, or $40.00 per whole share, subject to adjustment. The Rights may be exercised only if a person or

group acquires 20% or more of the company’s common shares, or announces a tender offer for at least 20% of the company’s

common shares. Each Right will entitle its holder (other than such acquiring person or members of such acquiring group) to purchase,

at the Right’s then-current exercise price, a number of the company’s common shares having a market value of twice the Right’s then-

exercise price. The Rights trade with the company’s common shares until the Rights become exercisable.

If the company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction, each Right will entitle its holder to purchase, at

the Right’s then-exercise price, a number of the acquiring company’s common shares (or other securities) having a market value at the

time of twice the Right’s then-current exercise price. Prior to the acquisition by a person or group of beneficial ownership of 20% or

more of the company’s Common Shares, the Rights are redeemable for $0.001 per Right at the option of the company’s Board of

Directors. The Rights will expire May 10, 2009.

15.
EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following data show the amounts used in computing earnings per share from continuing operations and the effect on income and

the weighted average number of shares of dilutive potential common stock.

For the year ended March 31

2006 2005 2004

Numerator:

Income from continuing operations — basic $28,635 $20,362 $11,524

Distributions on convertible debt, net of taxes 900 5,153 —

Income from continuing operations — diluted $29,535 $25,515 $11,524

Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic 29,935 28,101 27,744

Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options and unvested restricted stock 899 928 212

Convertible preferred shares 1,647 7,961 —

Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted 32,481 36,990 27,956

Earnings per share from continuing operations

Basic $ 0.96 $ 0.72 $ 0.42

Diluted $ 0.91 $ 0.69 $ 0.41

Diluted earnings per share is computed by sequencing each series of potential issuance of common shares from the most dilutive

to the least dilutive. Diluted earnings per share is determined as the lowest earnings or highest (loss) per incremental share in the

sequence of potential common shares.

For the year ended March 31, 2004, 8.1 million common shares issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Trust Preferred

Securities (i.e., convertible debt) were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because to do so would have

been anti-dilutive.

For the years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, options on 0.7 million and 2.2 million shares of common stock, respectively, were

not included in computing diluted earnings per share because their effects were anti-dilutive.
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16.
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The company has a stock incentive plan. Under the plan, the company may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted

shares, restricted share units, and performance shares for up to 3.2 million shares of common stock. For stock option awards, the

exercise price is equal to the market price of the company’s stock on the date of grant. The maximum term of the options is 10 years,

and, generally, vest ratably over three years. Stock appreciation rights may be granted in conjunction with a stock option granted under

the plan. Stock appreciation rights are exercisable only to the extent that the stock option to which it relates is exercisable and

terminate upon the termination or exercise of the related stock option. Restricted shares and restricted share units may be issued at

no cost or at a purchase price which may be below their fair market value but which are subject to forfeiture and restrictions on their

sale or other transfer.

Performance share awards may be granted, where the right to receive shares in the future is conditioned upon the attainment of

specified performance objects and such other conditions, restrictions and contingencies. The exercise price of performance share

awards would be equal to the market price of the company’s stock on the date of grant.

As of March 31, 2006, there were no stock appreciation rights, restricted share units, or performance shares awarded from the

plan.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity during 2006, 2005, and 2004 for stock options awarded by the company under

the stock incentive plan and prior plans.

For the year ended March 31

2006 2005 2004

Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

Number of exercise Number of exercise Number of exercise

shares price shares price shares price

Outstanding at April 1 3,522,133 $12.59 3,306,195 $12.35 3,464,832 $12.23

Granted 575,000 13.57 593,500 13.76 295,900 7.93

Exercised (469,369) 11.59 (326,826) 12.26 (111,937) 7.76

Cancelled/expired (267,265) 13.05 (50,736) 12.88 (328,235) 12.96

Forfeited (70,500) 13.17 — — (14,365) 14.09

Outstanding at March 31 3,289,999 $12.84 3,522,133 $12.59 3,306,195 $12.35

Options exercisable at March 31 2,844,684 $12.92 2,581,904 $12.58 2,336,059 $12.51

Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 5.95 $ 6.09 $ 3.84
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The fair market value of each option granted is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes method. The following

assumptions were made in estimating fair value:

For the year ended March 31

2006 2005 2004

Dividend yield 0.9% 0.9% 1.0%

Risk-free interest rate 4.0% 3.7% 3.3%

Expected life 5.6 years 5.8 years 6 years

Expected volatility 45.4% 45.9% 48.4%

The following table summarizes the status of stock options outstanding at March 31, 2006.

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

exercise remaining exercise

Exercise price range Number price contractual life Number price

$6.63 — $8.29 150,824 $ 7.63 6.9 94,157 $ 7.60

$8.29 — $9.95 313,176 8.76 4.7 266,743 8.78

$9.95 — $11.61 45,000 11.17 5.3 45,000 11.17

$11.61 — $13.26 710,200 12.78 4.1 685,980 12.80

$13.26 — $14.92 2,070,799 13.90 6.8 1,752,804 13.93

3,289,999 2,844,684

Non-vested Shares

The following table summarizes non-vested share activity during 2006, 2005, and 2004 for restricted shares awarded by the company

under the stock incentive plan and prior plans.

For the year ended March 31

2006 2005 2004

Outstanding at April 1 336,999 579,655 783,511

Awarded 25,000 — —

Vested (284,099) (203,856) (203,856)

Cancelled (52,900) (38,800) —

Outstanding at March 31 25,000 336,999 579,655

During 2006, nonvested share awards for 25,000 shares of the company’s common stock were granted at a market value of

$13.57. These shares are subject to certain terms and conditions and vest over a three-year period. The cost of these awards,
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determined as the market value of the shares at the date of grant, is being amortized over the restriction period. Compensation cost

charged to operations for the restricted share awards was as follows: 2006 — $0.6 million; 2005 — $1.3 million; and 2004 —

$2.1 million.

17.
QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

Year ended March 31, 2006

First Second Third Fourth

quarter quarter quarter quarter Year

Net Sales $409,954 $405,605 $532,219 $394,682 $1,742,460

Gross margin 50,758 53,138 70,101 54,982 228,979

Income from continuing operations 433 6,796 15,303 6,103 28,635

Loss from discontinued operations 143 144 129 105 521

Net income $ 290 $ 6,652 $ 15,174 $ 5,998 $ 28,114

Per share data:

Basic

Income from continuing operations $ 0.01 $ 0.23 $ 0.51 $ 0.20 $ 0.96

Loss from discontinued operations — (0.01) (0.01) — (0.02)

Net income $ 0.01 $ 0.22 $ 0.50 $ 0.20 $ 0.94

Diluted

Income from continuing operations $ 0.01 $ 0.22 $ 0.49 $ 0.20 $ 0.91

Loss from discontinued operations — (0.01) — (0.01) (0.02)

Net income $ 0.01 $ 0.21 $ 0.49 $ 0.19 $ 0.89

Included in the fourth quarter of 2006 is an incremental credit of $1.8 million for vendor related incentives.

Because quarterly reporting of per share data stands on its own, the sum of per share amounts for the four quarters in the fiscal

year will not necessarily equal annual per share amounts. FASB Statement 128, Earnings Per Share, prohibits retroactive adjustment of

quarterly per share amounts so that the sum of those amounts equals amounts for the full year.

The company experiences a seasonal increase in sales during its fiscal third quarter ending in December. Third quarter sales were

30.5% of annual revenues for 2006. The company believes that this sales pattern is industry-wide. Although the company is unable to

predict whether this uneven sales pattern will continue over the long term, the company anticipates that this trend will remain the

same in the foreseeable future.
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Year ended March 31, 2005

First Second Third Fourth

quarter quarter quarter quarter Year

Net Sales $386,672 $364,410 $515,684 $356,159 $1,622,925

Gross margin 48,665 48,340 65,804 44,639 207,448

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 4,014 $ 3,837 $ 14,458 $ (1,947) $ 20,362

Loss from discontinued operations (164) (96) (229) (388) (877)

Net income (loss) $ 3,850 $ 3,741 $ 14,229 $ (2,335) $ 19,485

Per share data:

Basic

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.14 $ 0.13 $ 0.51 $ (0.07) $ 0.72

Loss from discontinued operations — — — (0.01) (0.03)

Net income (loss) $ 0.14 $ 0.13 $ 0.51 $ (0.08) $ 0.69

Diluted

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.14 $ 0.13 $ 0.42 $ (0.07) $ 0.69

Loss from discontinued operations — — — (0.01) (0.02)

Net income (loss) $ 0.14 $ 0.13 $ 0.42 $ (0.08) $ 0.67

Included in the fourth quarter of 2005 is a $2.7 million charge for employee incentive and retirement plans.

Because quarterly reporting of per share data stands on its own, the sum of per share amounts for the four quarters in the fiscal

year will not necessarily equal annual per share amounts. FASB Statement 128, Earnings Per Share, prohibits retroactive adjustment of

quarterly per share amounts so that the sum of those amounts equals amounts for the full year.

The company experiences a seasonal increase in sales during its fiscal third quarter ending in December. Third quarter sales were

31.8% of annual revenues for 2005. The company believes that this sales pattern is industry-wide. Although the company is unable to

predict whether this uneven sales pattern will continue over the long term, the company anticipates that this trend will remain the

same in the foreseeable future.
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agilysys, inc.

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Years ended March 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
beginning of costs and other end of

Classification period expenses accounts Deductions period

2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 5,867 $ 3,502 $ 305 (a) $ (3,794) $ 5,880

Inventory valuation reserve $ 4,686 $ 4,878 — $ (6,180) $ 3,384

Restructuring reserves $ 5,458 $ 4,081 — $ (3,163) $ 6,376

2005

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3,829 $ 4,262 — $ (2,224) $ 5,867

Inventory valuation reserve $ 8,425 $ 3,878 — $ (7,617) $ 4,686

Restructuring reserves $ 5,819 $ 515 — $ (876) $ 5,458

2004

Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 2,969 $ 3,364 $ 450 (a) $ (2,954) $ 3,829

Inventory valuation reserve $ 4,525 $ 5,930 — $ (2,030) $ 8,425

Restructuring reserves $ 11,828 $ 2,516 — $ (8,525) $ 5,819

(a) Allowance for doubtful accounts acquired in business combinations.
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ended March 31, 1998 (File No. 000-05734).
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*10(a) Credit Agreement among Agilysys, Inc., the Borrower party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and LaSalle Bank National

Association, as Administrative Agent, dated as of October 18, 2005, which is incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 21, 2005 (File No. 000-05734).
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*10(j) Employment agreement, effective April 24, 2000, between Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. and Steven M. Billick, which is

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

September 20, 2000 (File No. 000-05734).

*10(k) Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. Senior Executive Disability Plan, effective April 1, 2000, which is incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10(v) to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2001 (File

No. 000-05734).
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*10(o) Change of Control Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2000, between Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. and Peter J.

Coleman, which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(z) to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended March 31, 2001 (File No. 000-05734).
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Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2003 (File No. 000-05734).

*10(z) Employment Agreement dated June 30, 2003 between Martin F. Ellis and Pioneer-Standard Electronics (n/k/a Agilysys, Inc.),

which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(gg) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
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*10(bb) Amendment No. 1 to Change of Control Agreement dated June 30, 2003 between Agilysys, Inc. and Martin F. Ellis, effective

May 31, 2005, which is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 6,

2005 (File No. 000-05734).

*10(cc) Non-Competition Agreement between Agilysys, Inc. and Martin F. Ellis, effective May 31, 2005, which is incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 6, 2005 (File No. 000-05734).

*10(dd) Change of Control Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2000, between Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. (n/k/a Agilysys,

Inc.) and Richard A. Sayers.

*10(ee) Non-Competition Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2000, between Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. (n/k/a Agilysys,

Inc.) and Richard A. Sayers.

*10(ff) Amendment No. 1 to Change of Control Agreement and Non-Competition Agreement, dated as of January 30, 2003,

between Pioneer-Standard Electronics, Inc. (n/k/a Agilysys, Inc.) and Richard A. Sayers.

*10(gg) Letter dated April 1, 2002, from Arthur Rhein to Richard A. Sayers regarding years of continuous service under the

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan.

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

99(a) Certificate of Insurance Policy, effective November 1, 1997, between Chubb Group of Insurance Companies and Pioneer-

Standard Electronics, Inc., which is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99(a) to the company’s Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998 (File No. 000-05734).

99(b) Forms of Amended and Restated Indemnification Agreement entered into by and between the company and each of its

Directors and Executive Officers, which are incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99(b) to the company’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1994 (File No. 000-05734).

* Denotes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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corporate and shareholder information

Transfer Agent and Registrar

National City Bank
Corporate Trust Operations
P.O. Box 92301 Location 5352
Cleveland, Ohio 44139
Phone: 800.622.6757

Common Shares

Nasdaq Symbol: AGYS
Quoted on the National 
Market System

Trustee for the 9.5 Percent 
Senior Notes

US Bank Corporate Trust Services
425 Walnut Street
CN-WN-06CT
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202

Dividend Reinvestment and 
Stock Purchase Plan

The plan allows for full or partial 
dividend reinvestment, and additional 
monthly cash investments up to $5,000 
per month, in Agilysys Common Shares 
without brokerage commissions or 
service charges on stock purchases. If 
you are interested in joining the Plan 
and need an authorization form and/or 
more background information, please 
contact the Plan Administrator at:

National City Bank 
Reinvestment Services
P.O. Box 94946
Cleveland, Ohio 44101
Phone: 800.622.6757

Annual Meeting

Shareholders and other interested
persons are cordially invited
to attend the Annual Meeting
of Shareholders at 1 p.m. ,
Friday, July 28, 2006 at:

Boca Raton Marriott at Boca Center
5150 Town Center Circle
Boca Raton, Florida 33486

Affi rmative Action Policy

Agilysys, Inc. is an equal employment 
opportunity and affi rmative action 
employer committed to a policy of 
equal employment opportunity for all 
persons, regardless of race, color, sex, 
religion, national origin, ancestry, place 
of birth, age, marital status, sexual ori-
entation, disability or veteran status.

 
World Wide Web Site

www.agilysys.com

Executive Offi cers

Arthur Rhein
Chairman of the Board, 
President and Chief Executive Offi cer

Robert J. Bailey
Executive Vice President

Peter J. Coleman
Executive Vice President

Martin F. Ellis
Executive Vice President,
Treasurer and 
Chief Financial Offi cer

Richard A. Sayers II
Executive Vice President,
Chief Human Resources Offi cer

Kenneth J. Kossin, Jr.
Vice President and Controller

Kathryn K. Vanderwist
Vice President, General Counsel and 
Assistant Secretary

Lawrence N. Schultz
Secretary

Directors

Arthur Rhein 1

Chairman of the Board, 
President and Chief Executive Offi cer, 
Agilysys, Inc.

Charles F. Christ 2, 3, 4, 5

Retired Vice President and
General Manager of
Components Division,
Digital Equipment Corporation
(computer and offi ce equipment)

Thomas A. Commes 2, 4, 5

Retired President and
Chief Operating Offi cer,
Sherwin-Williams Company
(paints and painting supplies,
manufacturer and distribution)

Curtis J. Crawford 3, 5

President and Chief Executive Offi cer, 
XCEO, Inc. 
(executive counseling and 
coaching services) 

Howard V. Knicely 3, 4, 5

Retired Executive 
Vice President,
TRW, Inc.
(aerospace, software systems and 
automotive components)

Keith M. Kolerus 1, 2, 5

Retired Vice President,
National Semiconductor 
Corporation
(semiconductors)

Robert A. Lauer 3, 5

Retired Managing Partner,
Accenture
(formerly Andersen Consulting,
consulting services)

Robert G. McCreary, III 2, 5

Founder and Principal,
CapitalWorks, LLC
(a private equity group focusing
on micro-cap public companies)

Thomas C. Sullivan 1, 5

Chairman of the Board,
RPM International Inc.
(specialty coatings and membranes)

1  Executive Committee
2  Audit Committee
3  Compensation Committee
4  Nominating and 
 Governance Committee
5  Independent Director

Corporate Offi ces

Agilysys, Inc.
2255 Glades Road
Suite 425W
Boca Raton, Florida 33431
Phone: 561-999-8700

Legal Counsel

Calfee, Halter & Griswold LLP
1400 McDonald Investment Center
800 Superior Avenue
Cleveland, Ohio 44114

Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm

Ernst & Young LLP
1300 Huntington Building
925 Euclid Avenue
Cleveland, Ohio 44115
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